

Environment Aboriginal Energy Law

Direct Dial: File: 416 862 4830 6706

By Electronic Mail & RESS Filing

August 12, 2015

Ontario Energy Board P.O. Box. 2319 2300 Yonge Street, 27th Floor Toronto, ON M4P 1E4

Attention: Kristen Walli, Board Secretary

Dear Ms. Walli:

Re: Ontario Sustainable Energy Association's ("OSEA") Interrogatory Responses Board File No. EB-2015-0029/EB-2015-0049

Please find enclosed OSEA's Response to Interrogatories from

- Enbridge
- OGVG
- APPrO
- GEC
- VECC

Yours truly,

in

Joanna Vince

Encl.

cc. Nicole Risse, Executive Director, OSEA Intervenors

Document #: 880136

T: 416 863 0711

F: 416 863 1938

Filed: August 12, 2015 EB-2015-0029/0049 Exhibit M.OSEA.OGVG.1 Page 1of 2

OSEA Response to OGVG Interrogatories

Question #1

Ref: Paragraph 28

- a) Please provide expert comments on the opportunity for gas and electric utilities to contribute to reduced electric costs, particularly in areas of transmission congestion, through programs facilitating Combined Heat and Power.
- b) Please provide some jurisdictional examples of programs in Mr. Young's experience.

Response

- a) Combined Heat and Power (CHP) systems hold great potential for energy conservation in existing buildings. By focusing the needs of thermal loads rather than maximizing electricity output, an appropriately designed system will utilize pre-existing heat demands and produce electricity at the same time for only a marginal added cost to the owner. Estimates will vary by local market conditions but 10-50% savings are possible. CHP can offer flexible electricity generation capacity to support wind and solar while avoiding wasted heat at central power plants.
- b) The European community has examples of support mechanisms, including for small scale micro-CHP deployed at the residential level. There are Feed-in-Tariff Support in Germany, Belgium, Netherlands and the UK. In France, the installation of CHP in a new building exempts that building from other renewable energy requirements in the Building Code. Utilization of power to gas strategies in Germany are freeing up electricity transmission capacity by converting surplus wind power to hydrogen gas that is transported in the natural gas network for use in CHP. Facilities/communities that experience electricity capacity constraints can reliably generate electricity on site using natural gas. Major European electricity utilities deploy small scale CHP at the building level under a service contract model.

Filed: August 12, 2015 EB-2015-0029/0049 Exhibit M.OSEA.OGVG.2 Page 2 of 2

Question #2

Ref: Paragraph 42

<u>Preamble:</u> Para. 42 states: "Denmark's 2.7 million households are benefitting from this shift directly. About 650,000 of Denmark's 2.7 million households have an individual heat supply with the remainder receiving space heating and hot water from district energy systems. Those connected to the district hot water systems pay an average cost of just 3% of the average household income for these services compared to 22% in Canada.

We are concerned with the calculation of 22% in Canada but were unable to get the link to upload the reference.

- a) Please provide the pdf file as an attachment.
- b) Please update the costs based upon 2015 prevailing prices.
- c) Please provide the resulting percentage of 2015 income.

Response

- a) See attached pdf copy of the "Domestic Water Heating and Water Heater Energy Consumption in Canada", for Canadian data. See attached pdf copy of the "The Danish Energy Model – Innovative, Efficient and Sustainable" for the Danish data. For clarification, in 2002, approximately 22% of total household energy consumption was for domestic water heating based on Natural Resources Canada's Residential End-Use Model and the 2002 Survey of Household Spending. An average of approximately 2% of household income was used for domestic water heating in Canada.
- b) The Canadian data referenced was produced by Natural Resources Canada in 2004. The Danish data referenced was from 2013. Data for 2015 was not available.
- c) See response b) above.

Document #: 879684



Domestic Water Heating and Water Heater Energy

Consumption in Canada

C. Aguilar, D.J. White, and David L. Ryan

April 2005

CBEEDAC 2005-RP-02

DISCLAIMER

The views and analysis contained in this paper are the sole responsibility of the authors, and should not be attributed to any agency associated with CBEEDAC, including Natural Resources Canada.

Executive Summary

The purpose of this study is to review relevant literature and technology concerning energy consumption for domestic water heating. Domestic water heating is estimated to be the second largest energy end-use for Canadian households, accounting for approximately 22 percent of total household energy consumption. Although the proportion of houses from 1945 to 1990 that uses natural gas for water heating and the proportion that uses electricity for this purpose are similar, in aggregate the general tendency is for new houses to increasingly use natural gas rather than electricity for domestic water heating requirements, even though natural gas is not available in all areas.

Current domestic water heater standards and efficiencies are reviewed, and the various types of water heaters available, and the extent to which they are in use, are examined. Conventional tank water heater systems are by far the most common type of system used throughout Canada, although there is greater variation in water heater equipment in the Atlantic Provinces. Interestingly, preliminary evidence from the EnerGuide for Houses database reveals that very few retrofits involve changes in the fuel that is being used for domestic water heating. In addition to fuel type, a number of other factors that influence the choice of water heating system are also evaluated. These include water and energy consumption levels – with Canada having among the highest levels of per-capita water consumption worldwide, seasonal effects, occupancy characteristics including occupant age and income, as well as the efficiency of hot-water-using appliances – particularly clothes washers and dishwashers..

Models of appliance domestic hot water consumption and of the energy consumption associated with the production of hot water are also reviewed, including WATSIM, TANK, and WHAM, the three models used by the United States Department of Energy (US DOE) in

i

examining electric, natural gas, and oil based water heaters, respectively. In addition, WHAM is used to estimate the residential water heater consumption for all types of heaters that the US DOE uses as part of their life cycle cost analysis of various water heater modifications or of changes in the standards that water heaters are required to meet.

Finally, the domestic water heating component of the Residential End-Use Model (REUM) is examined in some detail. The structure of this component is reviewed, and the assumptions that are needed to determine the energy required for domestic water heating, and their role, are noted. Using available evidence in the literature and various technical documents, each of these assumptions is analyzed. Particular attention is focused on the determination of the energy required per year per household for water heating for personal use – showers, baths, and faucets – as well as the baseload energy that is required, that is, the energy that is used by a water heater that is connected but where hot water is not being drawn from the unit. It is argued that in view of the REUM model formulation, where hot water energy requirements are determined by end use – for water-using appliances and for personal use, the baseload requirements should refer to all energy use for water heating that is not captured in these specific end uses, including standby heat losses as well as distribution losses and leakage.

We find that the values currently used in REUM for the amount of energy required per household for baseload requirements and for personal use are broadly consistent with values that we calculate based on information which in many cases may be only of limited direct applicability. Nevertheless, we find that in contrast to the REUM model, these values differ according to the fuel type that is used for water heating as well as other factors such as the type of household. Since REUM has a rich enough structure to allow differences if this type, it would appear that this type of generalization would be worth considering.

Table of Contents

Execut List of	tive Summary	i v
List of	Figures	vi
1.	Introduction	1
2.	Background	3
3.	Domestic Water Heater Efficiency and Current Standards	10
	3.1 Energy Efficiency and Load Factors	10
	3.2 Domestic Water Heater Standards	12
4.	Domestic Water Heater Types, Relative Cost Efficiencies, and Incidence of Use	15
	4.1 Storage Water Heaters	16
	4.2 Demand or Instantaneous Water Heaters	18
	4.3 Tankless Coil, Indirect, and Condensing Water Heaters	19
	4.4 Heat Pump Water Heaters	19
	4.5 Solar Water Heaters	20
5.	Measuring and Analyzing Domestic Hot Water Consumption	22
6.	Factors Influencing Domestic Hot Water and Energy Consumption	23
	6.1 Fuel Type	23
	6.2 Water and Energy Consumption	28
	6.3 Weekly and Seasonal Variation	30
	6.4 Occupancy Rate and Occupant Characteristics	31
	6.5 Household Income	33
	6.6 Water and Heat Losses	33
	6.7 Hot Water Distribution Systems	34
	6.8 Appliance Efficiency	35
7.	Modeling Domestic Hot Water Consumption and Energy Use	36
	7.1 Appliance Hot Water and Energy Consumption	36
	7.2 Hot Water Use Models	40
	7.3 Domestic Water Heater Energy Consumption Models	42
	7.3.1 WATSIM	43

7.3.2 TANK	43
7.3.3 WHAM	44
7.3.4 Use in Life Cycle Cost (LCC) Analysis	46
7.4 Stock Saturation and Retirement Curves	46
8. DWH and the Residential End-Use Model (REUM)	50
8.1 Domestic Water Heating in REUM	50
8.2 Examination of REUM Assumptions	54
8.2.1 Water Heater Stock	54
8.2.2 Occupancy Rates and Average Household Size	54
8.2.3 Water Heaters per House	55
8.2.4 Water Heater Efficiency Factors	56
8.2.5 Household Energy Demand for Baseload Hot Water (Standby Losses)	59
8.2.6 Household Energy Demand for Hot Water for Personal Use	61
8.2.7 Household Energy Demand for Hot Water for Appliances	66
Bibliography	69

List of Tables

Table 3.1: Energy Efficiency Regulations for Canadian Storage Tank Heaters	13
Table 3.2: Energy Efficiency Regulations for U.S. Storage Tank and Demand Water	
Heaters	14
Table 4.1: Life Cycle Costs of Different Types of Water Heaters	16
Table 6.1: Daily Per-Capita Indoor Water Use	28
Table 6.2: Household Hot Water Use from Flow Trace Analysis	29
Table 6.3: Energy Consumption for Domestic Water Heaters by Fuel Type	29
Table 6.4: EF AND UEC for Hot Water Consuming Appliances	35
Table 7.1: Average Product Lifetimes of Specific Residential Appliance Units	47
Table 8.1: Assumptions to Determine Energy Required for DWH	53
Table 8.2: Water Heater Energy Factor Comparisons	58
Table 8.3: Water Heater Standby Energy Losses	61
Table 8.4: Per-Household and Per-Capita Hot Water Use	62
Table 8.5: Household Values Underlying US DOE (2000a) Calculations	64
Table 8.6: Estimated Household Energy Demand for Hot Water for Personal Use in	
Canada	65
Table 8.7: Clothes Washer and Dishwasher Hot Water Energy Consumption	68

List of Figures

Figure 1.1:	Canadian Residential Secondary Energy Consumption in 2002 by End Use	1
Figure 2.1:	Canadian Domestic Water Heater Major Fuel Consumption and Energy	
	Intensity (1992-2002)	5
Figure 2.2:	Canadian Domestic Water Heater Fuel Type by Period of House	
	Construction (Survey of Household Spending, 2002)	5
Figure 2.3:	Canadian Domestic Water Heater Fuel Type by Period of House	
	Construction (EnerGuide for Houses Database, 2004)	6
Figure 2.4:	Comparison of Domestic Water Heater Fuel Type for Homes Constructed	
	1991-2002: Survey of Household Spending (2002) and EnerGuide for	
	Houses Database (2004)	6
Figure 2.5:	Market Shares of Canadian Domestic Water Heater Stock 1992 to 2002	7
Figure 2.6:	Average Fuel Prices Including Taxes (1990-2002)	8
Figure 2.7:	Canadian Population, Disposable Income and Total Households (1990-2002)	8
Figure 4.1:	Canadian Domestic Water Heater Equipment Types	15
Figure 4.2:	Conventional Tank Water Heaters by Fuel Type for Canadian Provinces	18
Figure 6.1:	Percentage of Homes Using Each Fuel Source for DWH – 2002	24
Figure 6.2:	DWH Energy Consumption by Energy Source (PJ) – 2002	24
Figure 6.3:	Primary fuel source for domestic water heating (%) by Province – 2002	25
Figure 6.4:	Maritimes and Quebec - Pre and Post Retrofit DWH Fuel Type	26
Figure 6.5:	Ontario and Manitoba – Pre and Post Retrofit DWH Fuel Type	27
Figure 6.6:	Saskatchewan, Alberta, and B.C. – Pre and Post Retrofit DWH Fuel Type	27
Figure 8.1:	SHEU93 Water Heater Age by Fuel Type in 1993	57

1. Introduction

Current Canadian estimates of domestic water heating energy consumption, energy intensity, and greenhouse gas emissions, prepared by Natural Resource Canada (NRCan), are based on NRCan's Residential End-Use Model (REUM) and the 2002 Survey of Household Spending (NRCan, 2004a,b,c). Domestic water heating is estimated to be the second largest energy end-use for Canadian households, exceeded only by space heating, and as shown in Figure 1, accounts for approximately 22 percent of total household energy consumption (NRCan, 2004a). In 2002, approximately 22 % of total Canadian residential greenhouse gas emissions were attributed to domestic water heating (DWH), an estimated increase of 13% since 1990 (NRCan, 2004b).





Source: Natural Resources Canada, Energy Use Data Handbook, 1990 and 1996 to 2002, June 2004.

While these numbers indicate that water heating is a major component of energy consumption for Canadian households, it is important to note that the information presented above is based, at least in part, on a model of energy end-use. In common with other models, the Residential End Use Model (REUM) embodies a number of methodologies and assumptions. Typically these assumptions reflect the best available information at the time they were imposed, but as technology and use patterns change over time, the particular assumptions that are embodied in the model may no longer be appropriate. Therefore, from time to time it is necessary to review the assumptions and methodologies embodied in a model and to make any changes that might better reflect the technology and/or use patterns that have evolved. The purpose of this study is to review the relevant literature and technology concerning energy consumption for domestic water heating.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows. Section 2 contains background information on current domestic hot water consumption estimates. The current standards and efficiencies of water heaters and hot water consuming appliances are summarized in Section 3, while Section 4 contains a review of domestic water heaters commonly in use. A brief overview of measurement and estimation techniques for domestic hot water consumption is presented in Section 5, with factors influencing domestic hot water consumption and associated energy consumption discussed in Section 6. Models of appliance domestic hot water consumption and energy consumption associated with the production of hot water are reviewed in Section 7. Finally, Section 8 focuses on domestic water heating in REUM, including the particular assumptions embodied in this component of the model and available information on values for these assumptions.

2. Background

Domestic water heating energy intensity for Canadian households in 2002 was estimated at 25.2 GJ/household (NRCan, 2004b). Electricity and natural gas are the major fuels reported in use for domestic water heating – in 2002, 106.5 PJ of electricity and 180.4 PJ of natural gas were used for this purpose, with electricity contributing 35% and natural gas 59% of the energy required for domestic water heating in Canada (Fig. 2.1). Data from the Survey of Household Spending (2002) show that for houses constructed between 1945 and 1990, the percentage of homes heating water using electricity and the percentage heating water using natural gas are virtually identical (Fig. 2.2). However, for homes constructed in the decade since 1990, the use of electricity to heat water has fallen while the use of natural gas for this purpose has increased.

However, similar information obtained from the *EnerGuide for Houses* (EGH) database (2004) differs somewhat. As Figure 2.3 shows, according to the records in this database, for all periods of house construction the proportion of houses in which natural gas is used to heat water is more than twice as large (and in some periods more than three times as large) as the proportion of houses in which electricity is used for this purpose. To investigate this issue further, Fig. 2.4 presents similar information from the two databases for houses constructed between 1991 and 2002. This includes 2043 households from SHS (representing 1,761,356 Canadian households) and 8217 households from the EGH database. As Fig. 2.4 shows, there are considerable differences between the two databases even for houses constructed in this most recent decade, with EGH indicating that 72% of these heat water with natural gas and 23.5% with electricity, while the corresponding figures in SHS are 58% natural gas and 36.5% electricity.

These differences in findings may reflect the different characteristics of the two databases. The Survey of Household Spending (SHS) involves a stratified random sample of

households (14,704 households in 2002), where the weight assigned to each observation reflects the number of houses that each observation represents in the national total (of 12,021,018 households in 2002). However, the EnerGuide for Houses (EGH) database, which in 2004 included 103672 households, is non-random. Rather, to be included in this database the only requirement is that the household has an energy audit undertaken. Since there are monetary reimbursements to the household if they are found to have achieved certain energy savings by the time they undertake a second audit, the households that choose to have an energy audit (and be included in the database) are likely to be those that expect that have large potential energy savings, as well as those that are particularly energy conscious.

The estimated market shares by fuel type of Canadian water heaters tend to reflect the general tendency for new houses to increasingly use natural gas rather than electricity for domestic water heating requirements. The market share of electric water heaters is higher than for natural gas waters heaters, but this share is steadily declining over time for electricity and increasing for natural gas (Fig. 2.5). This result appears to be more consistent with the trends in the SHS data (Fig 2.2) rather than in the EGH data (Fig 2.3).



Figure 2.1: Canadian Domestic Water Heater Major Fuel Consumption & Energy Intensity (1992-2002)

Source: Natural Resources Canada, Energy Use Data Handbook, 1990 and 1996 to 2002, June 2004.

Figure 2.2: Canadian Domestic Water Heater Fuel Type by Period of House Construction (Survey of Household Spending, 2002)



Source: Survey of Household Spending, 2002 (weighted data).





Source: EnerGuide for Houses Database (2004).







Figure 2.5: Market Shares of Canadian Domestic Water Heater Stock 1992 to 2002

Source: Natural Resources Canada, Energy Use Data Handbook, 1990 and 1996 to 2002, June 2004.

Of course, over the past 10 years or so a number of factors have changed, and these have no doubt contributed to changes in domestic water heating. Average natural gas prices including taxes increased by 93% between 1990 and 2002, while average electricity prices increased by 36% and heating oil prices rose by 40% (Natural Resources Canada, 2004b) (Fig. 2.6). During the same time period, the number of Canadian households has increased by 22%, real personal disposable income increased by 1.2% and the total population increased by 13% (Fig. 2.7). Mean household size was calculated at 2.55 persons from the 2001 Census, (Statistics Canada, 2001) while a slightly larger value of 2.57 is obtained using weighted data from the Survey of Household Spending (2002).



Figure 2.6: Average Fuel Prices Including Taxes (1990-2002)

Source: Natural Resources Canada, Energy Use Data Handbook, 1990 and 1996 to 2002, June 2004.



Figure 2.7: Canadian Population Disposable Income & Total Households (1990-2002)

Source: Natural Resources Canada, Energy Use Data Handbook, 1990 and 1996 to 2002, June 2004.

In the United States, domestic water heating is estimated to account for approximately 15% of electricity usage and 25% of natural gas consumption (Wenzel et al, 1997). The market share of electric water heaters in the U.S. rose in the period of 1981-1993, while market shares of oil, natural gas, and LPG fueled water heaters fell over the same period. By 1993, the natural gas water-heating share was approximately 52% followed by electricity at 39% (Wenzel et al., 1997). More recent estimates from the 2001 Residential Energy Consumption Survey (RECS), suggest that the natural gas water-heating share is approximately 54% followed by electricity at 38%, oil at 4% and LPG at less than 3% (US DOE, 2004b)

There is considerable variation in the relative importance of different fuels used for domestic water heating in other countries. In Australia, 40 percent of the energy consumption in the average home is attributed to water heating (Aye et al., 2002), with the main sources of energy for this purpose being electricity (79%) and natural gas (16%). A Norwegian comparison of engineering and econometric methods of estimating end use using 1990 energy survey data found that electricity consumption for water heating varied from 14 to 24 % of total residential electricity consumption (Larsen and Nesbakken, 2004). In South Africa, water heating is the largest residential use of energy, with up to 50% of monthly electricity consumption being used for this purpose (Meyer and Tshimankinda, 1998). Water heating accounts for approximately 30% of New Zealand's residential energy use, with electricity being the major energy source for this purpose (Pollard et al, 2002).

3. Domestic Water Heater Efficiency and Current Standards

Domestic water heating (DWH) units are generally categorized using energy efficiency factor ratings. These relative efficiencies are then used as guidelines for current manufacturing standards.

3.1 Energy Efficiency and Load Factors

The energy factor (EF) is the measure used to rate the overall efficiency of a DWH unit. It is the ratio of the energy output of (that is, heat delivered as hot water by) the water heater to the total amount of energy consumed by the water heater. More specifically, EF is the added energy content of the water drawn from the water heater divided by the energy required to heat and maintain the water at the water heater's setpoint temperature (US DOE, 2000a):

(1)
$$EF = \frac{M \ge C_p \ge (T_{tank} - T_{inlet})}{Q_{dm}}$$

where:

EF = energy factor M = mass of water drawn (lbs or kg) $C_p = \text{specific heat of water (Btu/lb using °F or kWh/kg using °C)}$ $T_{tank} = \text{water heater thermostat setpoint temperature (°F or °C)}$ $T_{inlet} = \text{inlet water temperature (°F or °C)}$ $Q_{dm} = \text{water heater's daily energy consumption (Btu or kWh)}$

The *EF* also takes into account standby losses that are estimated as the percentage of heat lost per hour from the stored water compared to the heat content of the water (US DOE, 1995). While higher *EF* ratings are equated with higher efficiency, they do not include operating costs. Higher EF values may not always mean lower operating costs, especially when fuel sources are compared (US DOE, 2001b). However, in general, the lower the *EF* rating, the higher the operating costs (NRCan, 2003). Through the use of outlet monitoring, Wiehagen and Sikora (2002b) provide an alternative measure of electric DWH unit efficiency. They determine heater energy at the outlet from the water heater, Q_{hw} , and at each location (outlet) where the hot water is delivered, $Q_{out,i}$, where total outlet energy delivered, Q_{out} is the sum across outlets of the energy delivered at each outlet. Specifically,

(2)
$$Q_{hw} = (T_{hw} - T_{cw}) \ge m_T \ge C_p$$

where: 7

 T_{hw} = the water temperature at the outlet of the water heater T_{cw} = cold water inlet temperature m_T = the total system flow rate C_p = a measure of the specific heat of the water

while total outlet energy, Q_{out} , is given by:

(3)
$$Q_{out} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (T_{out,i} - T_{cw}) \ge m_i \ge C_p$$

where: $T_{out,i}$ = outlet temperature at outlet *i* m_i = assigned flow rate at outlet *i* n = number of outlets,

and where the difference between Q_{hw} and Q_{out} indicates energy losses through piping. Based on these efficiency measures, water heater unit efficiency, Eff_{wh} , is calculated as:

(4)
$$Eff_{hw} = Q_{hw}/Q_{elec}$$

where: Q_{elec} = total electric input energy

while overall system efficiency, Eff_{sys} is calculated as:

(5)
$$Eff_{sys} = Q_{out} / Q_{elec}$$

In general, the efficiency of a tank water heater decreases as the tank gets larger, so that smaller tanks consume less energy per gallon (or litre) of water heated (Weingarten and Weingarten, 1996). The larger standby losses of a larger tank reduce the EF more than is the case with a smaller tank (US DOE, 2000a).

In the context of evaluating alternative types of water heating systems in Florida, Merrigan and Parker (1990) use the load factor as a measure of efficiency. The load factor is defined as the ratio of the average kilowatt demand over a specified period of time to the maximum demand over the same period:

This is a measure of how well the electric demand of the water heater unit is utilized over a period of time (which in the Merrigan and Parker (1990) study is taken to be a day, based on averages over 15-minute intervals). Since a higher load factor reflects a more even demand for electricity, this could be viewed as indicating a more efficient type of water heater. However, the authors found that this factor did not vary greatly across different types of water heaters.

3.2 Domestic Water Heater Standards

Canada's previous standards for domestic water heaters came into effect in February 1995. Amendments to these regulations followed in September 2004. These requirements are in the form of minimum *EF* values and maximum allowable standby losses, and are dependent on the size of the storage water tank (Canada, 2004). Table 3.1 outlines the efficiency standards to which storage tank water heaters must adhere. Electric storage tank regulations refer to maximum allowable standby losses, while gas and oil heater regulations refer to minimum energy factors.

Fuel Type	Tank Size (litres)	Maximum Allowable Standby Loss (Watts)	Minimum Energy Factor (EF)
	For tanks with bottom inlet:		
	$50 \le V \le 270$ litres	40 + 0.20 V	
Flootrigity	$270 < V \le 454$ litres	0.472 V - 33.5	
Electricity	For tanks with top inlet:		
	$50 \le V \le 270$ litres	35 + 0.20 V	
	$270 < V \le 454$ litres	0.472 V - 38.5	
Propane or Natural Gas	76 to 380 litres (input rating \leq 21.97 kW)		0.67 – 0.0005*V
Oil	\leq 190 litres (input rating \leq 30.5 kW)		0.59 – 0.0005*V

 Table 3.1 Energy Efficiency Regulations for Canadian Storage Tank Heaters

Note: V = Volume of storage tank in litres. Source: Canada (2004), NRCan (2003).

In the United States, efficiency standards for water heaters fall under the National Appliance Energy Conservation Act (NAECA), with the efficiency standards in place until 2003 being implemented in 1990 with small revisions in 1991. Effective January 2004, these energy conservation standards were revised (US DOE, 2001a). These efficiency standards specify a minimum energy factor to which water heaters must adhere, depending on their size. Current values are displayed in Table 3.2. U.S. manufacturers are required by federal law to determine the Energy Factor (*EF*) for all products and to label all products with this information (US DOE, 2001b).

Fuel Type	Energy Factor as of January 20, 2004
Electric Water Heater	0.97 – (0.00132 x Rated Storage Volume in gallons)
Gas-fired Water Heater	0.67 - (0.0019 x Rated Storage Volume in gallons)
Oil-fired Water Heater	0.59 – (0.0019 x Rated Storage Volume in gallons)
Instantaneous Gas-fired Water Heater	0.62 – (0.0019 x Rated Storage Volume in gallons)
Instantaneous Electric Water Heater	0.93 – (0.00132 x Rated Storage Volume in gallons)

Table 3.2 Energy Efficiency Regulations for U.S. Storage Tank and Demand Water Heaters

Rated storage volume is the water storage capacity of a water heater in gallons as specified by the manufacturer. Source: US DOE (2001a).

4. Domestic Water Heater Types, Relative Cost Efficiencies, and Incidence of Use

Domestic water heater types include: conventional storage tanks, direct vent/induced draft storage tanks, heat pump, solar, and integrated or duel appliance storage systems, and demand or instantaneous systems. According to EGH database records, the most prevalent type of water heater in Canada is the conventional storage tank fueled by natural gas or electricity (Fig. 4.1). While electric and natural gas fueled storage tanks have relatively similar initial costs, electric storage tanks are more costly to operate on an annual basis. Expected lifetime estimates vary from 13 years for both to 15 years for electric and 12 years for gas-fired heaters (NRCan, 2004, ACEEE, 2004). Instantaneous or demand type water heaters have considerably longer expected lifetimes of 20 years, while oil-fired heaters (8 years), and indirect-with-boiler heaters (30 years) have the shortest and longest lifetimes, respectively (Table 4.1).



Figure 4.1: Canadian Domestic Hot Water Equipment Types

Source: EnerGuide for Houses Database (2004).

Water Heater Type	Avg. Cost US\$	Expected Life	Annual Energy Cost US\$	Cost Over 13 years US\$
Gas Conventional Tank	\$ 425	13	\$165	\$2,544
Gas High Efficiency Tank	\$ 500	13	\$145	\$2,385
Gas Demand	\$ 650	20	\$140	\$2,243
Oil Conventional Tank	\$1100	8	\$230	\$4,777
Electric Conventional Tank	\$ 425	13	\$500	\$6,925
Electric High Efficiency Tank	\$ 500	13	\$480	\$6,740
Electric Demand	\$ 600	20	\$510	\$7,020
Heat Pump	\$1200	20	\$190	\$3,670
Indirect with Boiler	\$ 700	30	\$150	\$2,253
Solar with Electric Back-up	\$2500	20	\$140	\$3,445

Table 4.1: U.S. Life Cycle Costs of Different Types of Water Heaters

Calculations are based on average prices of 10 cents/kWh for electricity, 60 cents/therm of gas (1 therm=0.1055 GJ), and 90 cents per gallon of oil. Future annual energy costs are not discounted. The calculations also involve an unstated assumption concerning the hot water needs of the household.

Source: American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy (2004).

4.1 Storage Water Heaters

Storage water heaters typically function through the consumption of electricity, natural gas, oil, or propane (NRCan, 2003), with the particular energy source that is chosen varying according to fuel availability (and presumably costs). These domestic water heaters have a large storage capacity – 20 to 80 gallons or 75.7 to 302.8 litres (US DOE, 1995) – and are able to supply high flow rates of hot water, although only for limited periods of time (Wiehagen and Sikora, 2002b). As water heating is constantly maintained, regardless of an existing demand for hot water, these types of water heaters are subject to standby as well as distribution heat losses.¹ Residential buildings in the U.S. Pacific Northwest were found to have an average standby water heater energy consumption of 1200 kWh/yr (Pratt et al., 1993). Homes with low use patterns

¹ The term stand-by heat loss refers to heat lost through the walls of the storage tank while water is being heated, given tank insulation (NRCan, 2003). Distribution heat losses refer to heat losses through the piping system.

have higher standby and distribution losses with tank systems (Wiehagen and Sikora, 2002b). Of all water heating options, electric-fueled conventional storage tanks have one of the highest values of annual operating costs and of projected costs over 13 years of operation (Table 4.1).

Gas-fired conventional tanks heat water faster and have lower annual and projected lifetime costs. The conventional atmospheric draft gas heater is subject to heat loss as airflows up the flue remove heat from the heater tank. Energy Factors for a 40-gallon (150 litre) gas-fired unit range from 0.42 to 0.86, with most being less than 0.65 (US DOE, 2000a). Direct vent or induced draft gas fired heaters have a draft inducer fan that controls the draft and reduces excess airflows to a minimum, thus increasing efficiency. These latter types of gas heaters appear to be starting to capture market share in Quebec, Ontario, Saskatchewan and Alberta (Fig. 4.2) and have EF values up to 0.75 (US DOE, 2000a). In the condensing boiler type of gas fired water heater, the combustion products in the flue gas are condensed and more heat is extracted in the form of latent energy. These units capture almost all of the heat value of condensing flue gas water vapor. The forced draft burners in these units also eliminate off-cycle heat transfer to the flue. This increased efficiency results in EF values of up to 0.90 (US DOE, 2000a).

Tank water heater efficiency is improved by increasing tank insulation and flue baffling, using an anti-convection valve or heat trap, or by using sealed combustion designs. Research and testing has also been performed to evaluate various configurations of dual-tank (electric) systems where each tank has one or two operational heating elements (Hiller, 1996). Dual tank configurations may offer potential advantages for achieving desirable electrical load shapes and for maximizing cost-effectiveness when used with high efficiency alternative water-heating systems such as heat pump water heaters, desuperheaters,² and solar water heaters.

² Desuperheaters recover the waste heat of the refrigerant in a residence's air conditioning equipment (Merrigan and Parker, 1990), or from a heat pump.

Figure 4.2: Conventional Tank Water Heaters by Fuel Type for Canadian Provinces



Source: EnerGuide for Houses Database (2004)

4.2 Demand or Instantaneous Water Heaters

Demand or instantaneous water heaters that do not continuously heat and store water are often referred to as tankless systems. A gas burner or electric element automatically ignites when a faucet is turned on and hot water is delivered on demand, thus allowing for a reduction in stand-by heat losses. While gas demand heaters typically have a higher hot water output than electric models, their one overall limitation is the flow rate. Heated water flow rates range from 7 to 15 litres/minute (US DOE, 1995). As a result, demand water heaters are best suited for households with low simultaneous demands. The initial unit cost is higher than either electric or natural gas conventional storage water heaters, but operating costs for the gas demand models are lower. Fuel consumption for gas-powered units can be higher if pilots remain lit, but units are now produced with electronic ignitions that reduce this cost. Efficiency factors for electronic ignition models are cited as 0.84 (Platts, 2004).

4.3 Tankless Coil, Indirect, and Condensing Water Heaters

Tankless coil water heaters use a heat exchanger integrated with a space-heating boiler to heat water instantaneously. This type of heater works well in cold climates where the boiler is used frequently, but is less efficient in warmer climates. While this system avoids the need to have a separate water heating system, this means that the space heating system must be operated in the non-heating season just to heat water.

Indirect water heaters circulate water through a heat exchanger in a boiler. This heated water then flows to an insulated storage tank. Because the boiler does not need to operate frequently, this system is more efficient than the tankless coil.

Condensing residential water heaters are typically installed as combination space and water heating units. In addition to being able to capture over 90% of input energy, these heaters can capture almost all of the heat value of condensing flue gas water vapor to liquid, and their forced draft burners eliminate off-cycle heat transfers to the flue. However this efficiency comes with a substantial initial cost premium (Sachs et al. 2004).

4.4 Heat Pump Water Heaters

Instead of creating heat directly, heat pump water heaters transfer heat. This type of heater uses an electrically driven compressor to remove heat energy from a low-temperature heat source and move it to a higher-temperature heat sink, the water stored in the hot-water tank. The energy required by the heat pump is primarily electrical energy needed to operate the compressor. For any given energy amount, heat pump water heaters are capable of heating two to three times as much water as electric resistance heaters.

Air heat pump water heaters heat water by removing heat from ambient air. These water heaters are in use in the United States, but lack popularity in Canada due to the warm temperatures required for proper function. They can offer a space cooling benefit, since as indoor air is used to heat the water, heat pump water heaters vent cool air into the space. Air heat pump water heaters can provide hot water at 40 to 100 percent of the rate of electric resistance units and 30 to 50 percent of the rate of gas units, but require warm ambient temperatures and a large heat pump or storage tank to provide a constant flow of hot water (Bodzin, 1997). Most of these heaters have a back up heating elements to heat water during cold periods. They heat water more slowly than other types of heaters, and are more expensive to install, but have a shorter pay back period due to increased savings provided hot water energy use is relatively high.

Most geothermal heat pumps can make hot water at any time of the year because heat is drawn from the earth, which is warmer than air temperature in winter. Even in severe weather this type of heater is about 30% more efficient than the most efficient air source heat pump (DOE, 2004). They are more efficient because they are less reliant on electric resistance heaters to supplement heating capacity (Martin and Gettings, 1998). In colder Canadian climates, this type of heater has proven to be effective as a pre-heater. However, due to the ground loops necessary for these types of heat pumps to function, property alterations and high initial costs have made them less practical for existing homes (Martin and Gettings, 1998; OEE, 2003).

4.5 Solar Water Heaters

Direct solar water heaters circulate household water through the collectors while indirect solar heaters circulate a form of antifreeze through them. Solar water heater capacity is dependent upon weather patterns and seasons. Active systems use pumps and controls to move heat and circulate water, while passive systems function without either and can be more reliable and durable. Both types of systems can act as pre-heaters, but they often require electric or gas heaters for backup when they are the main domestic water heater. Solar water heater installation and equipment costs can be higher when compared to other types, but their operating costs are lower (US DOE, 1995).

Merrigan and Parker (1990) found that in Florida, solar hot water systems operated with the highest average electrical system efficiency and with the lowest average daily electrical demand profile. For a domestic water heating system, it is claimed that the use of solar energy with an electricity and diesel backup can result in a savings of 75% in greenhouse gasses compared to a conventional system (Kalogirou, 2004). While the installation cost of solar water heating systems (with electric backup) is high (see Table 4.1), it is argued that the life-cycle costs are such that in single-family dwellings in Toronto with a high hot-water load, the generated societal benefits make solar domestic water heating economically viable (Berbash et al., 1995). Estimates based on experimental and theoretical investigations in Denmark indicate that the performance/cost ratio for small systems could be improved by up to 25% by using a smart solar tank in which the auxiliary energy supply system (electricity), controlled by an electronic control system, heats up the tank from the top (Furbo et al., 2005). However, such systems have not yet been developed.

5. Measuring and Analyzing Domestic Hot Water Consumption

In metered studies, domestic hot water consumption and/or energy required for domestic water heating (or for other purposes) and/or energy use by appliances within the home are measured under typical household conditions (Wenzel et al., 1997). The measurement and analysis of domestic hot water consumption is usually accomplished using one of two methods – the temperature-based event inference method and the flow trace signature analysis method. In the latter, flow measurements are made as water leaves the hot water tank, and selected supporting temperature measurements are made at the main piping branches. Temperature-based event inference methods involve temperature measurements as close as possible to specific end uses, with flow measurements at the hot water tank outlet (Henze et al. 2002). Although flow trace analysis is less intrusive and requires less instrumentation, temperature-based event inference is more accurate and capable of separating out simultaneous events.

According to Henze et al., (2002), existing information about residential hot water use is limited and largely out of date. Not all water heating fuels are represented, and the majority of studies focus on electric storage type heater systems. There is limited consistency between studies, and the occupancy characteristics are often incomplete or uncorrelated with specific sites (Henze et al., 2002). Tiller et al. (2004) describe an online database for domestic hot water use data that could be used to resolve and summarize usage trends for individual end uses.

6. Factors Influencing Domestic Hot Water and Energy Consumption

Flow rate, occupancy rate, household composition, installed appliances, and climate influence the volume of domestic hot water consumed. Household hot water consumption patterns vary according to factors such as climate and season, household composition, family income, and cultural background. Factors affecting the household energy expenditure that is required to produce domestic hot water include the type of fuel used, inflow temperature, set temperature, water heater type, appliance types and efficiency ratings, and any water or heat losses.

6.1 Fuel Type

Electricity and natural gas are the most commonly used energy sources for the purpose of water heating in Canadian households (Fig. 6.1). Energy consumption in petajoules is estimated to be higher for natural gas (Fig. 6.2). This may partially be due to higher standby heat losses with natural gas than with electric water heaters, but it may also be due to larger water heating requirements for households with natural gas water heaters.



Figure 6.1: Percentage of Homes Using Each Fuel Source for DWH - 2002

Source: Survey of Household Spending, 2002 (weighted data).





Source: Natural Resources Canada, Energy Use Data Handbook, 1990 and 1996 to 2002, June 2004.

Although DWH fuel choice is influenced by fuel cost and efficiency as well as equipment cost, it is also limited in some regions of Canada by fuel availability. In the Maritimes (apart from Prince Edward Island) and Quebec, the DWH fuel source is primarily electricity, with oil and liquid fuel as the secondary fuel source. From Ontario westward to British Columbia, the primary fuel used is natural gas with electricity as the secondary fuel. Manitoba and British Columbia have a more even mix of electricity and natural gas usage with a minimal amount of oil and liquid fuel use (Fig. 6.3).



Figure 6.3: Primary fuel source for domestic water heating (%) by Province – 2002

Source: Statistics Canada, Survey of Household Spending, 2002

Based on the limited information available in the EnerGuide for Houses database concerning houses that underwent retrofits and had energy audits both prior to and after the retrofits were undertaken (6847 of the total 103672 observations in the database), it is possible to examine the extent of any DWH fuel switching that accompanied these residential retrofits. In total, only 22 of the 6847 houses changed the fuel used for DWH, with the types of changes varying across Canadian regions. In the Maritimes and Quebec, the use of oil-fueled DWH units tended to decline, while the use of electric water heaters increased (Fig. 6.4). In Ontario there was a decrease in electric type heaters accompanied by an increase in natural gas fired heaters (Fig. 6.5), while in Manitoba the change was in the opposite direction (Fig. 6.5). Saskatchewan, Alberta, and British Columbia use natural gas as the preferred DWH fuel with little or no switching associated with retrofit activity (Fig. 6.6). More detailed analysis is required to determine if the retrofits involve upgrading the existing DWH system to energy efficient storage tanks or demand type systems.



Figure 6.4: Maritimes and Quebec - Pre and Post Retrofit DWH Fuel Type

Source: Retrofit Data (6847 observations) from EnerGuide for Houses Database (2004)


Figure 6.5: Ontario and Manitoba – Pre and Post Retrofit DWH Fuel Type

Source: Retrofit Data (6847 observations) from the EnerGuide for Houses Database (2004)



Figure 6.6: Saskatchewan, Alberta, and B.C. - Post Retrofit DWH Fuel Type

Source: Retrofit Data (6847 observations) from EnerGuide for Houses Database (2004)

6.2 Water and Energy Consumption

Canadian daily residential per capita water use in 1999 was estimated at 343 litres, an increase from 327 litres in 1996, but lower than the 1989 level of 347 litres per person per day (Environment Canada, 2004). The U.S. Residential End Uses of Water Study (REUWS) reported a mean daily per capita indoor water use of 69.3 gallons per day or 262 litres (Mayer et al., 1999). Although this study does not separately identify hot water use, total indoor water use per capita was distributed as shown in Table 6.1.

Appliance	Indoor Water Use	Indoor Water Use
	Gallons/person/day	Litres/person/day
Dishwasher	1.0	3.8
Bath	1.2	4.5
Other domestic	1.6	6.1
Leak	9.5	36.0
Faucet	10.9	41.3
Shower	11.6	43.9
Clothes washer	15.0	56.8
Toilet	18.5	70.0
Total Indoor Use	69.3	262.4

 Table 6.1: Daily Per-Capita Indoor Water Use (Gallons per person per day)

Source: Mayer et al (1999)

North American water consumption appears to be considerably higher than in a number of other countries. For example, in Finland, estimates of daily per capita water consumption range from 70 to 110 litres (Simonson, 2004). In South African townhouses, per-capita hot water consumption was found to range between 88.6 litres per day in low-density townhouses to 61.5 litres per day in high-density townhouses (Meyer and Tshimankinda, 1998).

In a study using flow trace analysis of 10 homes in Seattle with average occupancy of 2.6 residents, DeOreo and Mayer (2000) estimated per capita daily consumption of hot water to be 25.1 gallons or 95 litres. Household daily consumption of hot water was estimated at 65.3 gallons or 247 litres. Approximately 40% of overall water use was attributed to hot water use.

Faucets, showers, baths and clothes washers had the highest per capita hot water use (Table 6.2). Those end-uses involving direct consumer behavior or preferences, such as baths or showers, result in more water consumption than appliances with pre-set water consumption patterns, such as dishwashers.

Category	Per Capita Hot Water Use (litres/day)	Household Hot Water Use (litres/day)	Percent of Total Hot Water Use in Each Category (%)	Percent of Overall Use that is Hot Water (%)
Bath	15.9	41.3	16.7	78.2
Clothes Washer	14.8	38.2	15.5	27.8
Dishwasher	3.4	8.7	3.6	100
Faucet	32.6	84.8	34.3	72.7
Leak	4.5	11.7	4.8	26.8
Shower	23.8	62.1	25.1	73.1
Toilet	0.0	0.0	0	0.0
Other	0.04	0.1	0	35.1
Indoor Total	95.0	247.2	100%	39.6%

Table 6.2: Household Hot Water Use from Flow Trace Analysis

Source: DeOreo and Mayer (2000).

In terms of energy use, typical homes in Finland with four occupants and a gross floor area of 140 m² are estimated to consume 27 kWh/ m²/year or 3780 kWh/year for domestic water heating (Simonson, 2004). Estimated average annual energy consumption for 2003 Baseline water heater designs from the regulatory impact analysis of the DOE are given in Table 6.3.

 Table 6.3: Energy Consumption for Domestic Water Heaters by Fuel Type

	Average Energy Use		Total Average Energy
Water Heater			Use
Fuel Type	kWh/yr	MMBtu/yr	Equiv. kWh/yr
Electric	3460		3460
Natural Gas		23.4	6856
LPG		22.8	6680
Oil	75.1	25.4	7517

Source: US DOE (2000a).

Most of the applied (measured/metered) research on energy consumption associated with water heating has involved electric heaters. However, the cost of obtaining hot water differs with different fuels and different types of water heating systems. Unless there is no price responsiveness at all, these different costs would be expected to induce different levels of hot water consumption and different energy use requirements. This suggests that simply generalizing from electric water heater results to other types of water heaters may be misleading. Clearly, more research is needed to determine hot water, and hence energy, consumption with other types of water heaters, particularly gas-fired water heaters which are the main type of water heater used in Western Canada.

6.3 Weekly and Seasonal Variation

In a study of 30 multi-family buildings in New York,³ Goldner (1994) found quite distinct seasonal variation in domestic hot water consumption. After adjusting for leaks, hot water consumption was observed to increase 10% from summer to fall, and a further 13% during the winter, before decreasing 1% in the spring. In addition, hot water consumption on a weekend day was approximately 7.5 percent greater than during a weekday. Specifically, weekend day consumption was estimated at 55 gallons (207 liters) per capita per day while weekday consumption averaged 51 gallons (183 liters) per capita per day. Average consumption was 174 litres/capita/day.

In an Australian study, 30 to 48 percent of the day-to-day variance in hot water energy consumption was explained by weather patterns, with an increase in air temperature correlated

³ In his study, Goldner included buildings whose size ranged from 17 to 103 apartments, with 2.2 occupants per apartment on average, and with either 5 or 6 above ground stories. The study was conducted over 14 months.

with a decrease in energy consumption, particularly during summer (Hart and de Dear, 2004). In Florida, average hot water energy consumption was 30% greater on the coldest winter day than on the mildest day (Bouchelle and Parker, 2000). In both Australia and Florida, the majority of water heaters are located in unconditioned spaces, which contributes to the sensitivity to seasonal temperatures. However, in colder climates where water heaters are located in conditioned space, seasonal variation in the temperature of the incoming cold water is expected to have a substantial effect on energy consumption for water heating (Abrams and Shedd, 1996).

Seasonal hot water consumption data for Canada do not appear to be available. However, a CMHC study (1999) of apartment dwellings found that the number of heating degree-days had no effect on overall (hot plus cold) water consumption while average annual consumption of energy per suite and energy per square metre increased as the number of heating degree-days increased. This increase in energy consumption obviously reflects space heating requirements, but may also include additional energy required for water heating in colder periods.

6.4 Occupancy Rate and Occupant Characteristics

Occupancy is one of the strongest determinants of hot water consumption (Parker, 2003). Not surprisingly, as household size increases, consumption of water heating energy increases (US DOE, 2004c). However, indoor water use has been shown to increase as household size increases while per capita use decreases. These efficiencies appear to be associated with the age of the occupants and/or the amount of water needed for cleaning, washing clothes and dishes, and general maintenance (Mayer and DeOreo, 1999).

Occupant characteristics are also important, as they not only affect personal hot water consumption, but also the use of hot water consuming equipment within the home. Age, income, and employment status all affect hot water end-uses, including the number of hot, warm, and cold cycles by clothes washers, the amount of hot water used in hand washing dishes or hot water consumed by dishwashers, and the number, length, and temperature of showers and baths (Lutz et al., 1996). Aydinalp et al.'s (2004) model results suggest that owner occupied residences would consume higher amounts of domestic hot water than renter-occupied dwellings. However, behavioural research suggests that homeowners are more likely to be energy savers than those who rent, and that senior populations are more likely to employ energy conservation strategies (Barr et al., 2005). Hot water use in apartment buildings is difficult to characterize and data on consumption patterns are extremely limited. Factors complicating the collection of reliable data for these buildings include the availability of alternatives to the use of domestic hot water, such as coin laundries (Lowenstein and Hiller, 1999).

The Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (1999) found that apartment buildings housing families consumed 44 per cent more water per suite than seniors' buildings. Overall energy consumption for seniors' buildings was, however, only 10 percent lower per suite than family buildings. This observation is explained by the higher demand for space heating among seniors that may offset decreased hot water use. Lutz et al (1996) note that while studies conducted over a decade ago reported lower hot water consumption for seniors, the data were limited and based solely on electric water heaters. Goldner (1994) reported that if children are present in the home, DWH energy consumption increases.

Statistics Canada estimates that the percentage of the Canadian population over the age of 65 will increase to 21 percent by 2026 (Statistics Canada, 2002). In the U.S. the percentage of population over 60 is estimated to increase to 22 percent by 2020 (Liao and Chang, 2002).

Clearly hot water consumption as affected by age of household occupants and the age mix in a given household requires further investigation.

6.5 Household Income

In a model of DWH energy consumption using the Canadian Survey of Household Expenditure data (1993), Aydinalp et al. (2004) reported that energy consumption for water heating increased by 0.0418 GJ/year for every \$1000 increase in yearly income. Based on the U.S. Residential Energy Consumption Survey (RECS), average water-heating energy consumption per household ranges from 11.8 Mbtu for households earning less than \$10,000 US in 2001 to 19.3 Mbtu for those earning \$50,000 US or more in 2001 (US DOE, 2004c). However, in 1993, low-income households across the U.S. were estimated to use in the range of 10.8 to 18.0 Mbtu (3165 to 5275 kWh) to heat water (Martin and Gettings, 1998). Low-income families have exhibited above average hot water energy consumption in other studies (Goldner, 1994). As well, evidence suggests that households that are not required to pay for their hot water expenditures consume above average amounts of hot water (Lutz et al., 1996). Barr et al. (2005) suggest that income may be a weak predictor of energy conservation behaviour.

6.6 Water and Heat Losses

Due to colder temperatures, storage tank water heaters can experience greater heat losses particularly if they are situated in poorly insulated or unconditioned spaces (Parker, 2003). Analysis of energy use for domestic water heating in New Zealand households estimated losses ranging from 34% of total electricity use for electric storage systems to 27% of total gas use for natural gas storage systems (BRANZ, 2004). Simulation studies indicate that compared to copper pipe, use of CPVC pipe results in an estimated 50% energy loss reduction, while the typical hot water wait time with CPVC pipe is about 5% less than for the standard conventional copper system (Baskin et al., 2004).

Hot water energy consumption can also increase if more water than necessary is utilized. This can occur through water purging and unintended use. Water purging occurs when water in the pipe supplying hot water to an outlet is below the acceptable delivery temperature and is purged or run out of the line until the desired hot water temperature is delivered. Unintended use refers to the drawing of hot water when only the use of cold water was intended, such as can occur with single handle faucets or in the case where hot water taps are turned on and off in such a short period of time that hot water is delivered into the piping system but not the outlet by the time the draw is completed. Although the energy consumed in unintended activities is often considered minimal, these activities do result in hot water consumption (Wiehagen and Sikora, 2002b).

6.7 Hot Water Distribution Systems

The piping system transporting hot water to the faucet or hot water using appliance typically consists of a "tree" system where individual outlets are fed from main supply or trunk. Recent simulation research evaluating the relative efficiency of the tree system and a "parallel" piping system, where each outlet is fed via an individual line directly from a manifold, indicates that there are some efficiencies to be gained primarily from installation of demand water heaters, with additional potential gains from modified distribution systems (Baskin et al., 2004; Wiehagen and Sikora, 2002a).

6.8 Appliance Efficiency

The amount of energy or hot water consumed will also depend on the efficiency of the installed appliances. In Table 6.4 the unit energy consumption of specific appliances that use hot water are summarized.

Table 6.4: EF and UEC for Hot Water Consuming Appliances

Appliance	EF	UEC
Clothes Washer ^a	0.82	1434 kWh/yr
Dishwasher ^b	0.29 - 0.35	636 kWh/yr

a. Source: Canada(2004). Annual energy consumption for clothes washers is based on a typical 392 clothes washes per year.

b. Source: Wenzel et al. (1997). Highest EF values are for electric water heaters (98% recovery efficiency); lowest are for gas water heaters (76% recovery efficiency).

7. Modeling Domestic Hot Water Consumption and Energy Use

When discussing hot water *generating* appliances, the term consumption refers to the energy used by the water heating unit in order to heat water and deliver it to the point of demand. In regard to hot water *consuming* appliances, however, the term consumption refers to both the energy and hot water consumed by the unit while in the pursuit of the task it was built to perform. Therefore, measures of hot water and water heating consumption patterns are needed when analyzing the energy consumption associated with residential DWH use.

7.1 Appliance Hot Water and Energy Consumption

Even when using data collection methods such as metering and appliance signature monitoring, it is difficult to ascertain how much hot water a particular unit consumes at any given point in time, as these methods are designed to determine when an appliance is in use or how much energy it is consuming. To determine how much hot water a dishwasher or washing machine will use for a particular cycle or load, Lutz et al. (1996) use the average temperature of warm water used in a cycle to calculate the percentages of hot and cold water. Then, the hot water fraction is used to estimate the amount of hot water used per cycle, or load, as well as daily consumption. Specifically,

(7)
$$T_{warm} = T_{hot} * (x) + T_{cold} * (1-x)$$

where: T_{warm} = the average temperature of warm water used in a cycle (33.5°C) T_{hot} = the temperature of hot water used by the unit (48.9°C) T_{cold} = the temperature of cold water used by the unit (17.7°C) x = the fraction of water that is hot

The formula in (7) is used to solve for x (=0.51), the fraction of water that is hot (Lutz et al, 1996). Of course, when the appliance performs a cold wash or a hot wash, the fraction of hot

water used is 0 and 1, respectively. Once calculated, the estimated hot water fraction can be used to approximate the amount of hot water used by a washing machine during a particular cycle.⁴

(8)
$$Use_{cycle} = V_{cycle} * f_{hot}$$

where: $Use_{cycle} =$ the amount of hot water used per cycle (litres/cycle) $V_{cycle} =$ the total water used per cycle (litres/cycle) $f_{hot} =$ the fraction of hot water used per cycle

Since every load of laundry is subject to different temperature cycles, the average hot water used

per load will be the sum of the hot water used by each cycle.

(9)
$$Use_{load} = (f_{hwash} * Use_{hwash}) + (f_{wwash} * Use_{wwash}) + (f_{wrinse} * Use_{wrinse})$$

where: Use_{load} = the amount of hot water used per average load (litres/load) f_{hwash} = the frequency of hot wash cycles from all loads (cycles/load) Use_{hwash} = the amount of hot water used per hot wash cycle (litres/cycle) f_{wwash} = the frequency of warm wash cycles from all loads (cycles/load) Use_{wwash} = the amount of warm water used per warm wash cycle (litres/cycle) f_{wrinse} = the frequency of warm water rinse cycles from all loads (cycles/load) Use_{wrinse} = the amount of hot water used per warm rinse cycle (litres/cycle)

Finally, the amount of hot water consumed by a washing machine per day can be calculated using the estimated amount of water used per load and an estimate of the average number of loads a household does per week. The total number of warm, hot, or cold cycles and loads done by a household will depend upon the number of occupants in residence (Lutz et al., 1996).

(10)
$$Use_{day} = (Loads_{week} * Use_{load}) / 7$$

where: Use_{day} = the average amount of hot water used per day by the unit (L/day) Loads_{week} = the average number of loads per week (load/week) Use_{load} = the amount of hot water used per average load (L/load)

This same equation is used by Lutz et al. (1996) to provide an estimate of hot water use by dishwashers and hand washing, with the amount of hot water used per load, Use_{load}, calculated as

⁴ This calculation is unnecessary for the purpose of determining hot water consumption by dishwashers and hand washing.

the total amount of water used per load multiplied by the fraction of total water that is hot. Current US DOE assumptions are 215 cycles (loads) per year for dishwashers and 392 for clothes washers, but these values vary by household type, household size, and probably a number of other factors (US DOE, 2000b).

As both domestic hot water generating and consuming units use energy in order to function, a measure of unit energy consumption (UEC) is needed for each. In general, UEC is an estimate of the amount of energy a unit consumes during its various modes. This measure includes energy consumed while the unit is "off," since some appliances can still consume energy while not in use. Wenzel et al. (1997) argue that to assess the energy use for water heating in a particular household, and to evaluate the effects of various energy conservation measures, it is necessary to disaggregate total hot water use to reflect these various components. Therefore, as well as equations that determine the UEC for water heaters, Wenzel et al. (1997) provide individual UEC equations for dishwashers, and washing machines. All these equations utilize the unit's EF rating, and can therefore reflect changes made to efficiency standards – for new units, that incorporate different efficiency standards, the UEC estimate is adjusted to reflect the difference in average energy factors. Wenzel et al. (1997) used the following equations to calculate UEC:

<u>Dishwasher</u> (incorporating Motor, Dryer, Booster Heater, and Hot Water Energy):

(11) $UEC_{dish} = Use / EF$

where: UEC_{dish} = unit energy consumption (kWh/yr) Use = the total number of dishwasher cycles used by the household in a year (cycles/yr) EF = energy efficiency factor (cycles/kWh)

<u>Clothes Washing Machine</u> (incorporating Motor and Hot Water Energy):

(12) $UEC_{wash} = (Use * Capacity) / EF$

where: UEC_{wash} = unit energy consumption (kWh/yr)
Use = the total number of washing machine cycles used by the household in a year
 (cycles/year)
Capacity = the washing machine's volume (cubic feet)
EF = energy efficiency factor (cubic feet/kWh)

Electric Water Heater:

(13) $UEC_e = (Use * TempRise * SHW * 365) / [3413 * (EF/100)]$

where: UEC_e = unit energy consumption (kWh/yr)
 Use = household hot water use (gallons/day)
 TempRise = the annual average temperature difference between incoming cold water and
 tank temperature.
 SHW = specific heat of water (8.2928 Btu/gallon-F)
 3413 = conversion factor (Btu/kWh)
 EF = energy efficiency factor from DOE test procedure (%)

Fuel (Oil or Gas) Water Heater:

(14) $UEC_f = (Use * TempRise * SHW * 365) / (EF/100)$

where: $UEC_f = unit energy consumption (MMBtu/yr)$

Rather than use either of these latter two equations to estimate a household's total hot water energy consumption, individual UEC estimates could be aggregated. However, in addition to UEC for dishwashers and clothes washers, unit specific information would be needed for the major hot water end uses – namely through basins, bath faucets and showerheads – and this information may be difficult to obtain. For this reason, a household's hot water energy consumption could be calculated as a residual, after first disaggregating total household energy consumption into major end-uses which may be easier to measure, such as for space heating and appliances, and subtracting the energy required for these uses from the total energy consumed by the household (Aydinalp et al, 2001):

(15) $Q_{DWH} = TEC - Q_{space} - Q_{applight}$

where: Q_{DWH} = annual DWH energy consumption (MJ) TEC = total annual household energy consumption (MJ) Q_{space} = total household space heating energy consumption (MJ) $Q_{applight}$ = total household appliance and lighting energy consumption (MJ)

The drawback of this method is that the division of household energy consumption into broad categories may result in a less reliable figure compared to a summation of individual UECs.

7.2 Hot Water Use Models

In 1985 the Electric Power Institute (EPRI) model was developed to estimate hot water demand at specific times of the day using multiple regression analysis (Lutz et al., 1996). The model comprised 16 equations that were used to estimate the amount of hot water consumed, in gallons per hour, at eight separate time intervals during a day, with weekdays and weekend days considered separately. Instead of using a typical household, the EPRI model classified all household demographics into 3 age groups – infants and children (to age 5), children, ages 6 to 13, and adults, ages 14 and older – where each household was assumed to have both a dishwasher and clothes washing machine (Lutz et al., 1996). Additional variables included outside air temperature, inlet water temperature of the water heater, thermostat setting of the water heater, water heater tank size, and dummy variables to reflect differences that may arise in different seasons and if the household includes an unemployed family member who was at home during the day.

Although the original EPRI model allowed for the estimation of domestic hot water consumption, its applicability is limited due to the assumptions it incorporates, such as all households having dishwashers, as well as the small sample size (110 households) on which it was based. It also only covers electric water heaters. In order to obtain predictions for a broader range of households, Lutz et al. (1996) expanded the model, including two new demographic variables and two new appliance variables. The two demographic variables, reflecting senioronly households and households that do not pay for their hot water (no-pay households), were added in order to capture the differences in consumption patterns these two groups seemed to exhibit. Evidence suggests that hot water consumption is higher in households that are not required to pay for the hot water used, while senior-only households consume less (Liao and Chang, 2002; Lutz et al., 1996). The addition of the no clothes washers and no dishwashers variables were designed to facilitate application of the model to households that did not own both these appliances.

The generic form of the modified model, which is not estimated, but rather includes adjustments to an existing equation based on various metering studies, involves linear equations that have the following form:

(16)
$$vol = [f(seasonals, per, age1, age2, age3, T_{tank}, T_{in}, T_{air}, athome, T_{size}, g_1(per, \sqrt{per}) * nodw, g_2(per, \sqrt{per}) * no cw] * (1- \alpha_1 * senior) * (1+\alpha_2 * nopay)$$

where:

vol = hot water consumption (litres/hour or gallons/day) *seasonals* = seasonal variables (=1 in a particular season, =0 otherwise) *per* = total number of persons in household *age1* = number of preschool children, age 0-5 yrs age2 = number of school age children, age 6-13 yrs age3 = number of adults, age 14-64 yrs T_{tank} = water heater thermostat setting, °F T_{in} = water heater inlet water temperature, °F T_{air} = outside air temperature. °F *Tsize* = water heater nominal tank size, gallons *athome* = 1 if adults are at home during the day, =0 otherwise *no* dw = 1 if no dishwasher, =0 otherwise *no* cw = 1 if no clothes washer, =0 otherwise $g_1(per, \sqrt{per})$ and $g_2(per, \sqrt{per}) =$ different linear functions of per and square root of per, as determined by Lutz et al (1996) *senior* = 1 if this is a senior-only household, =0 otherwise nopay = 1 if household does not pay for hot water, =0 otherwise α_1 and α_2 are coefficients determined by Lutz et al (1996)

This model, known as the hot water draw module, is one of the five major modules that are used in the Life Cycle Cost (LCC) analysis in US DOE (2000a). This analysis is used to examine the economic impacts on individual consumers arising from possible revisions in U.S. residential water heating efficiency standards. Specifically, the LCC represents the consumer's cost of purchasing and installing a water heater and operating it for its lifetime (US DOE, 2000a). Since there are errors associated with the estimated coefficients that Lutz et al (1996) provided for the equations, in their analysis US DOE (2000a) allow for uncertainties in the coefficients as well as in the thermostat setting (*T*_{tank} in the above model). With this variation, the equations are used with a large sample of households from the U.S. Residential Energy Consumption Survey (RECS) databases to determine estimated hot water use.

7.3 Domestic Water Heater Energy Consumption Models

Domestic water heating energy consumption models are designed to estimate the amount of energy consumed over a particular period of time to produce hot water and to determine the relative efficiency of water heaters for the purposes of establishing manufacturing standards. In the US DOE (2000a) engineering analysis of water heaters, three separate models are used to investigate the energy efficiencies resulting from design options and combinations of design options for different types of water heaters: (i) the WATSIM computer simulation model for electric storage water heaters (Hiller et al., 1992), (ii) the TANK computer simulation model for gas-fired storage water heaters (Paul et al., 1993), and (iii) WHAM, a simplified water heater analysis model that calculates average daily energy consumption based on a small number of variables that describe the water heater and its operating conditions(Lutz, et al., 1998). The US DOE (2000a) uses WHAM for their analysis of energy consumption for oil-fired water heaters. In addition, as part of the Life Cycle Cost (LCC) analysis that the US DOE (2000a) conducts, the outputs from these three different models – for electric, gas, and oil water heaters – are used in WHAM to estimate residential water heater consumption with baseline water heaters, as well as with all design options under consideration, for a large number of households.

7.3.1 WATSIM

According to US DOE (2000a), WATSIM is a detailed electric water heater simulation program developed by EPRI. This program provides detailed temperature profiles of the water inside the heater tank during the simulation run. These temperature profiles can be used subsequently to determine the energy-efficiency characteristics of the water heater. WATSIM is proprietary, and cannot be publicly verified. However, US DOE (2000a) reports on experiments that demonstrate the accuracy of the WATSIM algorithm at the efficiency levels and types of design options that are appropriate for their analysis.

7.3.2 TANK

According to US DOE (2000a), TANK is a detailed gas-fired storage water heater program developed for the Gas Research Institute by the Battelle Memorial Institute. TANK calculates energy flows throughout a water heater, including water draws, flue heat losses, jacket heat losses, fittings heat losses, and combustion chamber heat losses. In contrast to WATSIM, the TANK program directly produces information concerning the energy efficiency characteristics of the water heater, namely its energy factor (EF), Recovery Efficiency (RE), and the stand-by heat loss coefficient (UA).

7.3.3 WHAM

According to US DOE (2000a), the Water Heater Analysis Model (WHAM) is a simple energy equation that accounts for a variety of operating conditions and water heater characteristics when calculating energy consumption. The assumptions underlying the energy calculation in WHAM account for a variety of field conditions and types of water heaters. US DOE (2000a) reports that based on a comparison of energy calculations from WHAM with those from the much more detailed WATSIM and TANK simulation models, the much simpler WHAM accurately estimates residential water heater energy usage to within 3% to 5%.

WHAM requires only minimal descriptions of the water heater and water heater operating conditions. Specifically, the operating condition information that is required is the daily draw volume, the thermostat setpoint temperature, the inlet water temperature, and the ambient air temperature. The required characteristics of the water heater include its rated input (*Pon*), its stand-by heat loss coefficient (*UA*), and its recovery efficiency (*RE*).

A water heater's *RE* value is the ratio of energy added to the water compared to the energy input to the water heater. It is a measure of how efficiently energy is transferred to the water when the heating element is on or the burner is firing (US DOE, 2000a). The *Pon* value is the nominal input power rating assigned to the heater by the manufacturer, expressed in terms of kW for electric heaters and Btu/hr for natural gas or oil fueled units. The *UA* represents the hourly stand-by energy losses exhibited by the water heater and is measured in Btu/hr-°F (US DOE, 2000a). It is the amount of energy that is needed to maintain the water in the storage tank at the setpoint temperature while there is no hot water demand.

WHAM is based on a number of simplifying assumptions, including constancy of the water and air temperatures, constancy of water density and the specific heat content of water, and

44

also the assumption that the water temperature in the tank is always at the thermostat setpoint. US DOE (2000a) notes that due to their relatively high recovery efficiency, this last assumption is likely to be best approximated with an oil-fired water heater.

During a 24-hour trial, water is drawn from the water heater, in equal amounts, every hour for the first six hours, totaling 64.3 gallons (243.4 liters) (US DOE, 2000a). For the last 18 hours, the water heater is left in stand-by mode and energy losses during this time are measured. Total energy consumption and total mass of water drawn during the trial is then obtained. The temperature of the water entering, leaving, and inside the tank, as well as the ambient temperature of the area surrounding the heater is recorded. Using this information, along with the heater's rated input (*Pon*), as well as the stand-by heat loss coefficient (*UA*) and recovery efficiency (*RE*) that are determined in the course of the test procedure, WHAM calculates the average daily energy consumption of a water heater:

(17)
$$Q_{in} = (Q_{out} / RE) * [1 - ({UA * (T_{tank} - T_{in}) / Pon}] + 24 * UA* (T_{tank} - T_{amb})$$

where: Q_{in} = total water heater energy consumption (Btu/day or kWh/day)

Q_{out} = the heat content of the water being drawn from the water heater (Btu/day or kWh/day)

- RE = recovery efficiency
- UA = stand-by heat loss coefficient (Btu/hr-°F or kWh/°C)
- T_{tank} = thermostat setpoint temperature; i.e. the desired hot water delivery temperature (°F or °C)
- T_{in} = the inlet water temperature; i.e. the temperature of the water supplied to the water heater (°F or °C)

Pon = manufacturer's rated input power (Btu/hr or kWh/day)

 T_{amb} = the temperature of the ambient air surrounding the water heater (°F or °C)

In (17), the heat content of the water being drawn from the water heater, Q_{out}, is calculated as:

(18)
$$Q_{out} = vol * den * C_p * (T_{tank} - T_{in})$$

where: vol = volume of water that is drawn

den = density of water

 C_p = specific heat of water

7.3.4 Use in Life Cycle Cost (LCC) Analysis

As part of the Life Cycle Cost (LCC) analysis that the US DOE (2000a) conducts, the outputs from the WATSIM (electricity), TANK (gas) and WHAM (oil) models – specifically the values of *RE*, *UA* and *Pon* for baseline water heaters, as well as for water heaters that incorporate particular design options that are being studied – are subsequently combined with information from individual households (water and air temperatures and average daily hot water use) to estimate residential water heater consumption for these households using these particular water heaters. These latter calculations, for all types of water heaters, use the WHAM model described previously. Although the WATSIM model does not produce values of *RE* and *UA*, these can be determined from the detailed temperature profiles of water inside the water heater tank during the simulation that WATSIM does provide US DOE, 2000a). When a water heater's energy factor (*EF*) and recovery efficiency (*RE*) are known, the stand-by heat loss coefficient (*UA*) can be determined as:

(19)
$$UA = \{(1/EF) - (1/RE)\} / \{(T_{tank} - T_{amb}) * [(24/Q_{out}) - (1/\{RE * Pon\})]\}$$

where: UA = stand-by heat loss coefficient (Btu/hr-°F or kWh/°C) EF = energy efficiency factor

7.4 Stock Saturation & Retirement Curves

As a means to simplify analysis of stock turnover rates, the US DOE (2000a) assumes that when a water heater is retired, homeowners replace the old unit with a new one of the same fuel type. On this basis, changes to fuel type market shares result mainly from purchases made for new homes. However, market shares for specific types of models will be affected by all purchases. Sanchez et al. (1998) find that in the U.S. during the period 1976-1995, the relationship between energy growth in existing product stock and in new product stock was 4 to 1, that is, that for every four terawatt hours (TWh) of growth in energy consumption from existing models, there was one TWh of growth from new models.

Before stock saturation estimates can be obtained, a "survival curve" for existing stock must be created. Survival curves for existing appliance stocks are an estimation of the unit's retirement rate, that is, the rate at which a unit is retired and consequently replaced. The average lifetimes of various hot water consuming and producing appliances are shown in Table 7.1.

Table 7.1: Average Product Lifetimes of Specific Residential Appliance Units

Appliance	Estimated Average Product	US DOE Estimated
	Lifetime (Years) ^a	Average Product
	Canada	Lifetime (Years) ^b
Gas Water Heater	12	9 (min=5, max=13)
Oil Water Heater	n/a	9 (min=5, max=13)
Electric Water Heater	15	14 (min=6,max=21)
Dishwasher	13	n/a
Clothes Washer	14	$14.1 \text{ (min=12, max=16)}^{c}$

^a Average lifetimes for the Gas & Electric Water heaters, and Clothes Dryers are from Canada (2004). Dishwasher lifetime is from The EnerGuide Appliance Directory, NRCan OEE online ^b US DOE (2000a)

^{c.} US DOE (2000b)

US DOE (20000)

In their analysis of the effects of appliance efficiency standards for the U.S. residential sector, Koomey et al. (1998) use a linear retirement function (survival curve), in which no units are retired in the first two thirds of their average life, but all are replaced by the time four thirds of their average life has elapsed. Specifically,

- If the unit's age $\langle 2/3 * \text{ average life} \rangle \Rightarrow 100\%$ survive
- If $\{2/3 * \text{ average life}\} < \text{unit's age} < \{4/3 * \text{ average life}\}$

 \Rightarrow 100{2 - age * (1.5/average life)}% survive

• If the unit's age > $\{4/3 * \text{average life}\} \Rightarrow 0\%$ survive.

This function is used to estimate the retirement rate of appliances. By applying this function to projected shipments, the number of appliances purchased in a particular year and still existing at

a specified date can be determined. Koomey et al refer to the devices that are still in existence in a given year and that are affected by efficiency standards as the "Applicable Stock".

Since Koomey et al (1998) are concerned with regional impacts of appliance efficiency standards, it is necessary for them to determine the applicable stock in each geographical area. This is done by disaggregating the national stock using the following equation:

(20)
$$AS_{i}^{G,A} = AS_{i}^{N,A} \left[\left(F_{i}^{REPL} x \frac{Sat_{Exist}^{G}}{Sat_{Exist}^{N}} x \frac{HH^{G}}{HH^{N}} \right) + \left(F_{i}^{NEW} x \frac{Sat_{New}^{G}}{Sat_{New}^{N}} x \frac{NHP^{G}}{NHP^{N}} \right) \right]$$

where: G = geographical level (provincial, municipal, census division)

A = appliance/end-use (unit) type

i = year

N = national level

 $AS_i^{G, A}$ = applicable stock; shipments minus retirements of unit type A for geographical area G in year i

- $AS_i^{N, A}$ = applicable stock; shipments minus retirements of unit type A for the national level in year i
- F_i^{REPL} = fraction of units that are replacements in year i; a figure calculated using national stock data
- F_i^{NEW} = fraction of units that are new in year i; a figure calculated using national stock data

 $\operatorname{Sat}^{G}_{\operatorname{Exist}}$ = number of total existing units⁵ for all appliances in geographical area G $\operatorname{Sat}^{N}_{\operatorname{Exist}}$ = number of total existing units for all appliances at the national level

 Sat_{New}^{G} = number of total new units for all appliances in geographical area G Sat_{New}^{N} = number of total new units for all appliances at the national level HH^{G} = total number of households in geographical area G HH^{N} = total number of households at the national level NHP^{G} = total number of new housing permits in geographical area G NHP^{N} = total number of new housing permits at the national level

In Canada, no attempt appears to have been made to explicitly disaggregate national

appliance stock data into regional appliance stocks. However, in view of differences across

regions in water heater types - and possibly in household stocks of water-using appliances - it

⁵ Koomey et al. (1998) use the 1993 Residential Energy Consumption Survey (RECS) as a source for saturation levels and define old saturations as those units within homes built before 1987 and new saturations as those in homes built after 1986. This is mainly due to the National Appliance Energy Conservation Act of 1987 (NAECA), which enacted minimum efficiency standards for appliances in the U.S.

may be prudent to consider such a disaggregation in subsequent analysis. An equation such as (20) could be used for this purpose, where, analogously to Koomey et al (1998), the distinction between saturation of existing and new units could be based on dates when efficiency regulations changed.

8. Domestic Water Heating and the Residential End-Use Model (REUM)

8.1 Domestic Water Heating in REUM

Total hot water energy demand in REUM is obtained by summing hot water energy demands of three components – major appliances (dishwashers and clothes dryers), personal use (via showers, baths, and faucets), and base load (standby losses from the water heater). For each of these components, hot water demand is obtained as:

(21) $HWED_i = (WHSTOCK * OCCRATE * HHDEMAND_i / WHPERHH) / EF$

where: HWED_i is hot water energy demand for component i WHSTOCK is the water heating stock OCCRATE is the occupancy rate (proportion of houses occupied and using hot water) HHDEMAND_i is a measure of household energy demand for hot water for that component (see below) WHPERHH is the number of water heaters per household EF is the water heater efficiency factor
and i represents the component, i = {major appliances, personal use, and standby losses}.
Note that HWED and WHSTOCK may differ across province or region (p), time (t), DWH fuel

type (ft), and household type (ht). OCCRATE and HHDEMAND may differ across p, ht and t,

while EF differs across ft.

In order to clearly identify the assumptions that are required for the calculations in (21), it is convenient to consider the components of (21) in detail. In some cases these values are determined within REUM so that the equation specifications that follow are not necessarily identical to those in REUM, where, for example, several components may be combined into a single variable.

In the calculation in (21), the household energy demand for hot water measure varies by component. For the major appliances component, the hot water energy demand measure is the major appliance water heating energy load per household, which is the sum of energy demand for hot water for dishwashers and energy demand for hot water using clothes washers. The perhousehold energy demand for hot water for dishwashers, HHDEMAND_{dish}, is calculated as:

(22)
$$HHDEMAND_{dish} = prop_{dish} * loads_{dish} * enload_{dish}$$

where: prop_{dish} is the proportion of households with dishwashers loads_{dish} is the number of dishwasher loads per year for a household with a dishwasher enload_{dish} is the average energy consumption for hot water per dishwasher load

The average energy consumption for hot water per dishwasher load, $enload_{dish}$, is the sum of the energy in the hot water that is delivered to the dishwasher and the energy used by the dishwasher to heat the water further:

(23)
$$enload_{dish} = hwenergy_{dish} + encons_{dish} * pheat_{dish}$$

where: hwenergy_{dish} is the energy in the hot water delivered to the dishwasher per load encons_{dish} is the direct unit energy consumption per dishwasher load pheat_{dish} is the proportion of unit energy consumption by the dishwasher that is used to heat water.

Unfortunately, values for hwenergy_{dish} and for pheat_{dish} may both be unknown. In such cases it

may be possible to approximate enload_{dish} as a constant proportion of encons_{dish}:

(23a) $enload_{dish} = \theta_1 encons_{dish}$

where θ_1 is a proportion. This is the procedure used in REUM.

The per-household energy demand for using clothes washers, $HHDEMAND_{cwash}$, is calculated as:

(24) $HHDEMAND_{cwash} = prop_{cwash} * loads_{cwash} * hwenergy_{cwash}$

where: prop_{cwash} is the proportion of households with clothes washers,

loads_{cwash} is the number of clothes washing loads per year for households with a clothes washer,

hwenergy_{cwash} is the energy in the hot water delivered to the clothes washer per load.

Unfortunately, values for hwenergy_{cwash} may be unknown. In such cases it may be possible to approximate this variable as a constant proportion of $encons_{cwash}$, where $encons_{cwash}$ is the direct unit energy consumption per clothes washer load:

(24a) $hwenergy_{cwash} = \theta_2 \, encons_{cwash}$

where θ_2 is a proportion. This is the procedure used in REUM.

For the personal use component, the hot water energy demand measure in (21), HHDEMAND_{pers}, is the energy required to provide hot water for personal use by household.

For the base load (standby losses) component, the hot water energy demand measure in (21), HHDEMAND_{base}, is water heater output, which is calculated as:

(25)
$$HHDEMAND_{base} = energy_{watheat} * WHPERHH$$

where: $energy_{watheat}$ is the unit energy output per water heater. This variable indicates the base amount of energy that a water heater uses per year, that is, the amount of energy used by a water heater that is connected but where hot water is not being drawn from the unit.

The assumptions/information required to determine energy required for hot water are summarized in Table 8.1.

Variable	Description	Current REUM Values
		&Assumptions
WHSTOCK	Water Heater Stock	Determined in REUM using
		stocks and sales values
OCCRATE	Percent of houses occupied	Determined in REUM
WHPERHH	Water heaters per house	1.0
EF	Water heater Efficiency Factor	Electricity – 0.84864
		Natural Gas – 0.52985
		Oil – 0.52369
		Propane – 0.5
HHDEMAND-dish	Household energy demand for hot	
	water for dishwashers	
Prop-dish	Proportion of households with	
1	dishwashers	
loads-dish	Dishwasher loads per year per	
	household	
Enload-dish	Energy consumption for hot water	0.88 * Encons-dish
	per dishwasher load	(constant proportion)
Hwenergy-dish	Energy in the hot water delivered to	n/2
	the dishwasher per load	11/a
Encons-dish	Direct unit energy consumption	Reported by Manufacturers
	(UEC) per dishwasher load	
Pheat-dish	Proportion of UEC per dishwasher	n/a
	load used to heat water	11/ a
HHDEMAND-cwash	Household energy demand for hot	
	water for clothes washers	
Prop-cwash	Proportion of households with	
	clothes washers	
loads-cwash	Clothes washer loads per year per	
	household	
Hwenergy-cwash	Energy in the hot water delivered to	0.92 * Encons-cwash
	the clothes washer per load	(constant proportion)
(Encons-cwash)**	Direct unit energy consumption	Reported by Manufacturers
	(UEC) per clothes washer load	
HHDEMAND-pers	Household energy demand for hot	10 GJ per household (constant)
	water for personal use	
HHDEMAND-base	Household energy demand for	
	baseload hot water (standby losses)	
Energy-watheat	Standby energy loss per water	3.5 GJ per water heater (constant)
	heater per year	

Table 8.1: Assumptions to Determine Energy Required for DWH

Note: ** indicates a variable not required in model equations specified above, but used in REUM to obtain an approximate measure. n/a indicates "not available".

8.2 Examination of REUM Assumptions

In this section, values of specific variables and parameters in the domestic water heating component of REUM are considered. The main objective here is to identify the sources of existing assumptions, to describe any changes in these assumptions that might be appropriate, as well as to discuss various issues associated with the use of some of these assumptions.

8.2.1 Water Heater Stock

Water heater stock is determined within REUM using stock information from the *Survey* of *Household Spending* (Statistics Canada) and sales from *Canadian Gas Facts*. However, more efficient water heaters use less energy. Therefore it would be desirable to know if higher efficiency models are being adopted (especially those incorporating increased insulation, draft induced fans etc.) and their rate of adoption. This information could be obtained from surveys, but is not available in the Survey of Household Spending, although DWH efficiency is recorded in the (non-random) EnerGuide for Houses data. It appears that the last time that comprehensive survey information on the age of a household's water heater was collected in a random sample was in the 1993 Survey of Household Energy Use (SHEU93).

8.2.2 Occupancy Rates and Average Household Size

In REUM, the occupancy rate refers to the proportion of households that are occupied and assumed to be using a water heater. This variable is determined within REUM. An additional related factor that does not appear to be explicitly incorporated in the water heating component of REUM is average household size. This variable differs across provinces, and more importantly, over time. This variable is important because as household size changes, so too does domestic hot water consumption. Apart from increased requirements for personal use, this also affects energy consumption for hot water for use by major appliances, since it affects both the number of dishwasher and clothes washer loads. In addition, larger household sizes typically have higher hot water use patterns, which can affect standing heat losses. While it might be preferable to include average household size directly in equation (21) as an additional variable, an alternative is to incorporate this variable in each component of hot water energy demand. Thus, for example, household energy demand for hot water for personal use could be calculated as individual demand for hot water for personal use multiplied by household size. Similar calculations could be used for energy use for hot water for major appliances and base load. In this way, the effects of changes in household size across provinces and time would be directly reflected in the calculations in the model.

8.2.3 Water Heaters per House

Within REUM, the number of water heaters per house is assumed to be 1.0. There appears to be no literature or studies that examine this value, although there are some articles that examine aspects of dual-tank systems (Hiller, 1996). In cases where, for example, instantaneous water heaters or solar systems are coupled with conventional tanks, the number of water heaters per house would obviously exceed 1.0. If every house is expected to have at least one water heater and some have more than one water heater, the average number of water heaters per house would exceed one. However, survey information would be required to determine if changes in this value were warranted, and if so, the revised value that should be used. Over time as the EnerGuide for Houses database expands, it may be possible to use information from that source to determine whether the assumed number of water heaters per house should be revised.

8.2.4 Water Heater Efficiency Factors

Without some reliable indicators of the age of existing Canadian water heater stocks, it is not possible to accurately estimate the efficiency of water heaters in place. It is not known whether the efficiency values used in REUM reflect characteristics of the stock in place, based, for example, on some form of replacement function using stock shipments, residential construction, etc.

Table 8.2 provides a summary of the factors currently used in the REUM, the minimum energy factors in the U.S. and Canada, selected energy factors in place in 2000-01, and in the pre- and post-1990 period. From the values in this table it appears that the EF factors currently in use in the REUM are at the lower end of the efficiency scale.

The last comprehensive survey of water heater age in Canada appears to have been in SHEU93. At that time (over 12 years ago), based on water heaters where the age and fuel type was known, over 26% of electric water heaters, 33% of oil water heaters, 25% of natural gas water heaters, and 21% of propane water heaters were over 10 years old (Fig. 8.1). Clearly most of these would have been replaced by now. SHEU97 survey results and the 2004 EnerGuide for Houses data would appear to indicate that water heater replacements predominantly involve replacement with a water heater that uses the same fuel type, although in some cases natural gasfueled water heaters have replaced electric water heaters, or vice-versa. In addition, in 1993, over 30% of water heaters were less than 3 years old (Fig. 8.1). In view of this information, and the efficiency factors for post 1990 water heaters shown in Table 8.1, it would appear that the EF factors presently in use are at the conservative end of the efficiency scale.



Figure 8.1: SHEU93 Water Heater Age by Fuel Type in 1993

Source: Survey of Household Energy Use, 1993.

Note: Observations with unknown or unspecified water heater fuel type or age have been excluded in the calculations underlying this figure. Values refer to the percentage of water heaters of a particular fuel type that are in a specified age range.

Table 8.2: Water Heater Energy Factor Comparisons

Water Heater Type	REUM Energy Factors (2005)	Minimum Energy Factors (2004)	Manufacturer/Utility/ Gov. Agency Energy Factor Ranges (2000-04)	Historical Energy Factors (EF)
Electric				
				pre-1990 - 0.80 to 0.83^8
conventional	0.84864	$0.97 - (0.00132 * VG)^1$	0.86 to 0.95^3	post-1990 - 0.83 to 0.89^8
energy efficient			0.92 to 0.94 ⁶	
instantaneous		$0.93 - (0.00132*VG)^1$		
Natural Gas				
		$0.67 - (0.0019 * VG)^1$		pre-1990 - 0.48 to 0.49^8
conventional	0.52985	$0.67 - (0.0005*V)^2$	0.54 to 0.63^3	post-1990 - 0.48 to 0.56^8
direct vent			0.53 to 0.59^7	
power vent			0.53 to 0.65^7	
instantaneous pilot		$0.62 - (0.0019 * VG)^1$	0.69^{5}	
instantaneous electronic ignition			0.80 to 0.84^5	
condensing			0.89^4	
Propane				
conventional	0.52369		$0.54 \text{ to } 0.63^3$	
Oil				
		$0.59 - (0.0019 * VG)^1$		
conventional		$0.59 - (0.0005 * V)^2$		post-1990 - 0.45 to 0.53^8

¹ US DOE (2001b, 2005) ² Canada (2004), NRCan (2003) ³ US DOE Technology Fact Sheet (2001b) ⁴ Sachs et al. (2004) ⁵ BC Hydro (2005) ⁶ US DOE (2000a) ⁷ RHEEM Gas (2005)

⁷ RHEEM-Gas (2005) ⁸ Kelso (2003)

V = Water storage capacity of a water heater , in litres, as specified by the manufacturer.

VG = Water storage capacity of a water heater , in gallons, as specified by the manufacturer

8.2.5 Household Energy Demand for Baseload Hot Water (Standby Losses)

Consumption of energy for baseload hot water is currently estimated at 3.5GJ per household in the REUM. As was the case with energy consumption for hot water for personal use, this value is treated as being constant across provinces, water heater fuel type, household type, and time.

In view of the REUM model formulation, where hot water energy usage is based on enduse, that is appliances and personal use, the baseload requirements should refer to all energy use for water heating that is not captured in these specific end uses. Therefore, this would include standby heat losses as well as distribution losses and leakage. In many studies these components are considered jointly, although in some studies they appear to be examined separately. However, in general there is very little information on energy use for this purpose. This lack of knowledge forms the motivation for a project recently proposed by the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (LNBL) (Stoops et al, 2005), which is designed to measure how much water and energy is wasted in hot water distribution systems in California residences.

In terms of information that is currently available, Pratt et al (1993) studied water heater standby consumption in the Pacific Northwest in the U.S. They found that single-family homes with electric space heating equipment consumed more than 4700 kWh/year to heat water for domestic uses. Average standby load for existing homes was found to be 1200 kWh/year, or approximately 26% of total energy consumed for water heating. Homes built as part of a Residential Standards Demonstration Program, which are presumably more energy efficient, averaged 1100 kWh/year (23%) in standby load, while a regional energy forecast for the same area assumes a standby load value of 1300 kWh/year (28%).

In a study of energy end-use in New Zealand houses, an average of 1020 kWh/year was required to replace standing heat losses for domestic hot water (Stoecklein et al, 1998). However, there was considerable variation in this value, with the standard deviation being 450 kWh/year. The average amount of energy used for heating of consumed hot water (that is, excluding the standing heat losses) was 1890 kWh/year. On average, standing losses were found to account for 40% of total domestic hot water energy consumed, although with a range from 20% to 70%, this proportion varied quite considerably across houses. A later New Zealand study (Pollard et al, 2002) found standing losses from electric water heaters to be 42% (3.56 kWh/day) out of 8.38kWh/day), while for natural gas water heaters, standing losses accounted for 21% of energy used for water heating (3.9 kWh/day out of 18.72 kWh/day). This is the reverse of the pattern typically found in North America, where relatively smaller standby losses are associated with electric water heaters than with natural gas water heaters.

In US DOE (2000a), values are presented for the standby heat loss coefficient (UA) for various types of water heaters. As noted earlier, this coefficient measures the rate at which energy must be added to the water heater when it is not heating water for delivery, that is, it indicates the energy input required to maintain water at the setpoint temperature. The values measured in Btu per hour for each degree Fahrenheit for baseline water heaters are 3.64 for electric water heaters, 13.99 for natural gas fueled water heaters, and 14.49 for oil-fueled water heaters. These values can be converted to Watts by multiplying by 0.293, to degrees Celsius by multiplying by 1.8, and then to kWh per year per degree Celsius by multiplying by 24 x 365 /1000. Finally, they can be converted to GJ per degree Celsius by multiplying by 0.0036. In terms of required temperature rise, a Canadian study concerned with residential greywater heat recovery systems (Proskiw, 1998) calculates the temperature rise as being 49°C, based on an

inlet temperature of 11°C, which was the average inlet temperature of 8 Canadian cities, and a water heater thermostat setting of 60°C. On this basis, the estimated standby heat losses from water heaters are calculated as shown in Table 8.3.

Water Heater	Standby Heat Loss	Standby Energy	Standby Energy Loss
Туре	Coefficient (UA)	Loss per year	per year for a 49°C
	$(Btu/hr - °F)^{(1)}$	$(kWh / yr - ^{\circ}C)$	temperature rise
			(GJ / yr)
Electric	3.64	16.82	2.97
Natural Gas	13.99	64.65	11.40
Oil	14.49	66.96	11.81

Table 8.3: Water Heater Standby Energy Losses

⁽¹⁾US DOE (2000a)

Particularly for natural gas and oil, these standby energy losses exceed the value of 3.5GJ per household (water heater) that is assumed in REUM. In addition, the variation in these values suggests that different standby energy losses should be assigned to water heaters with different fuel types. It should also be noted that various improvements to water heater technology that were examined in US DOE (2000a) could result in reductions in the UA coefficients, and therefore in the standby energy losses per year for each type of water heater.

8.2.6 Household Energy Demand for Hot Water for Personal Use

Personal consumption of energy for hot water through showers, baths and faucet use is currently estimated at 10GJ per household in the REUM. This value is treated as being constant across provinces, water heater fuel type, household type, and time.

According to Wiehagen and Sikora (2002a), a 1985 study that monitored hot water use for 59 residences in Canada found average <u>hot water</u> use <u>per household</u> to be 236 litres per day, with per-capita consumption values ranging from approximately 47 to 86 litres per day. However, based on other studies, these values appear to be underestimates of current hot water consumption levels. Average <u>per-capita</u> domestic water consumption (including both hot and cold water use) in Canada is currently rated as one of the highest in the world at approximately 350 litres/day – up from a reported 327 litres per capita per day in 1996, and 343 litres per capita per day in 1999 (Environment Canada, 2001; 2004). This daily value ranges between 269 litres/capita/day for metered user households and 457 litres/person/day for unmetered user households, with current values being similar to those in 1989 (347 litres), previously the highest use year on record. This information is summarized in Table 8.4.

Source	Location	Water Type	Per Household Measure Litres/day	Per-capita Measure Litres/day
Wiehagen and Sikora (2002a) [Perlman and Mills – 1985]	Canada	Hot	236	47-86
Env Canada (2004)	Canada	All		350
Env Canada (2004) [using proportion from DeOreo et al (2000)]*	Canada	Hot		138.6 (106.5-181)
Goldner (1994)	US	Hot		167 avg ** 274 max **
Henze (2002)	US	Hot Hot - personal	227.4 (2 adults) 98.8	
Abrams et al (1998)	US	Hot	277.2 avg. (128.1-1096.4)	
DeOreo (2000)	US	Hot Hot - personal	246.8 (2.6 res) 131.4	94.9
Env Canada (2004) [using hot water proportion from DeOreo et al (2000) and personal use shares from Henze(2002) and DeOreo et al (2000)]*	Canada	Hot-personal		66.5 (59.6-73.5)

 Table 8.4: Per-Household and Per-Capita Hot Water Use

Notes: 1/d refers to litres per day

* refers to an implied measure calculated from more than one source.

** excluding leaks

Using the estimate of DeOreo and Mayer (2000) that 39.6% of total water use is hot water, an estimate of <u>current Canadian per capita hot water</u> use would be $350 \ge 0.396 = 138.6$
litres/day (range = 106.5 to 181 litres/capita/day) which is much higher than the 1985 values reported by Wiehagen and Sikora (2002a). These values are generally smaller than metered values from a 1994 U.S. study where average per capita daily <u>hot water</u> consumption was 167 litres, with a maximum of 274 litres, excluding leaks (Goldner, 1994). However, in other U.S. studies, <u>per household</u> hot water use was 227.4 litres per day (Henze et al, 2002), or an average of 277.2 litres per day (Abrams and Shedd, 1998).

The proportion of the metered hot water consumption allocated to personal use ranges from 43% (Henze, 2002) to 53% (DeOreo and Mayer, 2000) assuming that 1/3 of hot water from faucets is for personal use.⁶ Using the same assumption for faucet use and assuming a dishwasher is present, corresponding proportions calculated from information in Kelso (2003) range from 42% (one-person household), to 58% (two-person household) and 67% (three-person household). However, these figures appear less reliable since the use values presented by Kelso are an amalgamation of information from other sources, and as the household size increases, the amount of hot water required for personal use increases but the amounts required for other activities do not.

Applying the proportions of hot water that are for personal use from Henze (2002) and DeOreo and Mayer (2000) to estimated current per-capita hot water consumption in Canada of 138.6 litres/day yields values for Canadian personal use hot water consumption ranging from 59.6 to 73.5 litres/day per person, or an average of 66.5 litres/day per person. Using an average household size of 2 (as in Henze, 2002) or 2.6 (DeOreo et al, 2000) these Canadian per-capita personal use hot water consumption values yield household personal use average estimates (of

⁶ This figure is derived from detailed information on hot water consumption in Henze (2002), assuming that hot water obtained through the kitchen sink faucets is not for personal use.

133.1 and 173.0, respectively) that appear to be approximately 30% larger than household personal use values calculated in U.S. metered studies (Table 8.4).

Since there does not appear to be any information on energy consumption for water heating purposes by Canadian households, it is necessary to utilize U.S. values. Table 6.3 contains US DOE (2000a) estimates of average annual energy consumption according to the water heater fuel type. The analysis in US DOE (2000a) uses the 1997 Residential Energy Consumption Survey (RECS) as its underlying data source. Key household characteristics, identified in RECS according to the water heater fuel type, are displayed in Table 8.5 along with the US DOE (2000a) energy consumption values previously reported in Table 6.3.

Water Heater	Average	Average Hot	Water Heater Energy
Fuel Type	Household	Water Use	Consumption by Fuel
	Size	Litres/day	kWh/year (GJ/yr)
Electricity	2.45	171.5	3460 (12.5GJ)
Natural Gas	2.82	188.9	6856 (24.7GJ)
LPG	2.58	173.0	6680 (24.0GJ)
Oil	2.87	179.0	7517 (27.1 GJ)
U.S. Average	2.68	178.1	

Table 8.5: Household Values Underlying US DOE (2000a) Calculations

Source: US DOE (2000a). Water heating energy consumption values also appear in Table 6.3.

Based on the values in Table 8.4, it appears that the average hot water use values used by the DOE are much lower than those experienced in metered studies in the U.S., and also much lower than estimated hot water use values in Canada. In particular, the estimate of Canadian hot water use of 138.6 litres per person (or its range from 106.5 litres to 181 litres per person), translates into per household consumption (for an average household size of 2.55 persons (Statistics Canada, 2001 Census)) of 353.4 litres/household (with a range from 271.6 to 461.6 litres per household). Compared to the US average hot water use in Table 8.5, the average value in Canada is almost twice as high, while the lowest value, which refers to metered water

consumption, is 1.5 times as large as the US average (the highest value is 2.6 times the US average value). This suggests that the water heater energy consumption values in Table 8.5 need to be scaled up by a factor of between 1.5 and 2.6 to obtain corresponding Canadian values.

Estimates of Canadian per-capita energy consumption for personal use can be obtained by multiplying the proportion of hot water consumption allocated to personal use (ranging from 43% to 53%, with an average of 48%) by US water heater energy consumption (scaled by 1.5, 2, or 2.6) after first deducting standby losses (Table 8.3) that are assumed not to be affected by the increased hot water usage in Canada compared to the US, although it is possible that they could be lower in these circumstances). The results of these calculations are presented in Table 8.6.

Water Heater	Scale Factor	Proportion of Hot Water Consumption that			
Fuel Type	Applied to US	is for Personal Use			
	Hot Water Energy Consumption	43%	48%	53%	
Electricity	None 1.5 2	4.1 6.9 9.4	4.6 7.7 10.4	5.0 8.5 11.5	
	2.6	12.6	14.1	15.5	
Natural Gas	None 1.5 2	5.7 11.3 16.2	6.4 12.6 18.0	7.0 13.9 19.9	
	2.6	22.6	25.2	27.9	
LPG	None 1.5 2 2.6	5.4 10.9 15.6 21.9	6.1 12.1 17.4 24.4	6.7 13.4 19.3 27.0	
Oil	None 1.5 2 2.6	6.6 12.7 18.0 25.1	7.3 14.1 20.1 28.0	8.1 15.6 22.2 30.9	

 Table 8.6: Estimated Household Energy Demand for Hot Water for Personal Use in Canada

Notes: In the absence of other information, the standby energy loss for LPG is assumed to be the same as for natural gas.

As can be seen from the values in Table 8.6, with no scale factor applied to the DOE energy consumption amounts, the estimated energy that is required for water heating for personal use is less than the value of 10GJ assumed in REUM regardless of whether personal use is assumed to account for 43%, 48%, or 53% of total household hot water consumption. However, this situation changes once the apparently higher levels of consumption of hot water, and hence of energy required for water heating, in Canada are taken into account through a scaling factor. Using an average value of Canadian water consumption (scaling factor of 2), and where personal use accounts for 48% of household hot water consumption, it is seen from the highlighted cells in Table 8.6 that for electric water heaters, the energy that is required for water heating for personal use almost matches the current REUM assumption of 10GJ. However, the energy that is required for water heating for this purpose for all other types of water heaters is somewhat larger than 10GJ. Even taking a more conservative viewpoint and using a scale factor of 1.5 (corresponding to water use just in metered houses) and with personal use at a smaller 43% of total hot water consumption, there is still considerable variation in energy requirements according to the water heater fuel type. In this case, electric water heaters use less than the assumed 10GJ value for personal use water heating, while all other water heater types use more than 10GJ. Thus, it would seem that the assumption in REUM pertaining to energy required for water heating for personal use should be allowed to vary by fuel, and should be modified somewhat from its currently assumed 10GJ value.

8.2.7 Household Energy Demand for Hot Water for Appliances

Within REUM, the water heating energy requirements are considered for two types of water-using appliances, dishwashers and clothes washers. In each case it is necessary to

calculate the amount of energy that is required to heat water for use in the appliance. Dishwashers may intake heated water and also heat it further. Clothes washers also intake heated (as well as cold) water but generally do not heat water within the appliance. However, in view of the apparent difficulty in measuring the energy that is required to heat the water prior to its arrival at the appliance, a convenient simplification that is used in REUM with both these appliances involves determining the water heating energy requirements as a proportion of the direct unit energy consumption of the appliance. For dishwashers the proportion that is used is 0.88, while for clothes washers the proportion that is used in REUM is 0.92.

There appears to be relatively limited publicly available information on this variable especially for more recent models. This has also been complicated by the inclusion of clothes drying with clothes washing when calculating efficiency factors in order to reflect the reduced clothes dryer energy needs associated with the use of horizontal axis clothes washers since in this case the clothes have less water content when they are removed from the clothes washer.

Table 8.7 contains historical information pertaining to the proportion of unit energy consumption that is attributable to hot water energy for both clothes washers and dishwashers. For clothes washers, the proportion of unit energy consumption that is attributable to energy required for water heating varies from 0.93 to 0.85. Therefore the REUM assumption of 0.92 is consistent with these 1990, 1994 and 1998 values. For dishwashers, the proportion of unit energy consumption that is attributable to energy required for water heating varies from 0.72 to 0.74. While noting that the dishwasher values reported in Table 8.7 refer to data from 1990 and 1994, the 0.88 value for this proportion that is assumed in REUM appears to be considerably higher than the values found in empirical studies.

Appliance	Energy Factor EF/MEF ⁽³⁾	Hot Water Energy Consumption (kWh/yr)	Motor Energy Consumption (kWh/yr)	Water Heating Energy %
Clothes Washer	0.86 (100% RE)	1045	103	91
1990 ⁽¹⁾	0.85 (98% RE)	1066		91
	0.67 (76% RE)	1375		93
Dishwasher	0.36 (100% RE)	458	179	72
1990 ⁽¹⁾	0.35 (98% RE)	467		72
	0.29 (76% RE)	603		73
Clothes Washer 1994 ⁽²⁾	1.18	708	99	88
Clothes Washer 1994 ⁽²⁾	1.18	548	99	85
Dishwasher 1994 ⁽²⁾	0.46	584	211	74
Clothes Washer 1998 ⁽³⁾		544	75	88

⁽¹⁾ Wenzel et al (1997). These calculations assume 380 cycles/year for clothes washers and 229 cycles/year for dishwashers, and include hot water. The 98% recovery efficiency corresponds to the typical electric water heater while 76% RE corresponds to the typical gas water heater. Hot water load is calculated at a 90°F temperature rise. EF is calculated for a clothes washer capacity of 2.60 cubic feet.

while 10/0 KE corresponds to the typical gas water heater. Hot water load is calculated at a 90°F temperature r EF is calculated for a clothes washer capacity of 2.60 cubic feet. ⁽²⁾ Energy Star (2004) <u>http://www.energystar.bov/index.cfm?c=clotheswash.pr_crit_clothes_washers</u> Note two sources of data for clothes washers are from DOE test procedures and P&G data ⁽³⁾ US DOE (2000b).

Bibliography

- Abrams, D.W. and A.C. Shedd (1996), "Effect of Seasonal Changes in Use Patterns and Cold Inlet Water Temperature on Water-Heating Loads", *ASHRAE Transactions: Symposia*, AT-96-18-3, 1038-1053.
- American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy (2004), "Purchase and Operating Cost of Selected Types of Water Heaters", referenced in the Residential ENERGY Smart Library, available online at: <u>http://library.energyguide.com/EnergyLibraryTopic.asp?bid=nstar&prd=10&TID=13898</u> &SubjectID=7834
- Aydinalp, M., A. Ferguson, A. Fung, and I.V. Ugursal (2001), "EnerGuide for Houses Database Analysis", Canadian Residential Energy End-Use Data and Analysis Centre Report, CREEDAC-2001-04-03.
- Aydinalp, M., V.I. Ugursal, and A.S. Fung (2004), "Modeling of the Space and Domestic Hot-Water Heating Energy-Consumption in the Residential Sector Using Neural Networks", *Applied Energy*, 79, 159-178.
- Aye, L., W.W.S. Charters, and C. Chaichana (2002), "Solar Heat Pump Systems for Domestic Hot Water", *Solar Energy* 73:3, 169-175.
- Barr, S., A.W. Gilg, and N. Ford (2005), "The Household Energy Gap: Examining the Divide Between Habitual- and Purchase-Related Conservation Behaviours", *Energy Policy*, 33, 1425-1444.
- Baskin, E., R. Wendt, R. Lenarduzzi, and K.A. Woodbury, (2004), "Numerical Evaluation of Alternative Residential Hot Water Distribution Systems", AHSRAE Transactions: Symposia, NA-04-5-3, 671-681.
- BC Hydro (2005), Power Smart for Business Tankless Water Heaters. Available online at: <<u>http://www.bchydro.com/business/investage/investage/31.html</u>>
- Berbash, Y., M. Chandrashekar, and P. Calamai (1995), "Technology for Sustainable Development: A Case Study of Solar Domestic Hot Water Heating in Ontario", *Energy*, 20:6, 495-510.
- Bodzin, S. (1997), "Air-to-Water Heat Pumps for the Home", *Home Energy Magazine Online*, July/August 1997.
- Bouchelle, M.P. and D.S. Parker (2000), "Factors Influencing Water Heating Energy Use and Peak Demand in a Large Scale Residential Monitoring Study", paper presented at the Symposium on Improving Building Systems in Hot and Humid Climates, Texas, May.

- BRANZ (2004), "Energy Use in New Zealand Households. Report on the Year 8 Analysis for the Household Energy End-use Project (HEEP)", Study Report No. SR 133.
- Canada, Government of (2004), "Energy Efficiency Act: Regulations Amending the Energy Efficiency Regulations", Canada Gazette, P.C. 2004-965, September.
- Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) (1999), "Analysis of the Annual Energy and Water Consumption of Apartment Buildings in the CMHC HiSTAR Database", Research Highlights, Technical Series 01-142. Available online at: <http://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/publications/en/rh-pr/tech/tech01-142.htm>
- DeOreo, W.B., and P.W. Mayer (2000), "The End Uses of Hot Water in Single Family Homes from Flow Trace Analysis", Aquacraft Inc. Report, undated.
- Environment Canada (2001), "Urban Water: Municipal Water Use and Wastewater Treatment", National Environmental Indicator Series Archives, SOE Bulletin No. 2001-1, available online at:

<http://www.ec.gc.ca/soer-ree/English/Indicators/Issues/Urb_H2O/Bulletin/uwind1_e.cfm>

- Environmental Energy Technologies Division (2004), "Home Energy Saver", Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, available online (August 2004) at: < http://hes.lbl.gov/hes/glossary_dat.html>
- Furbo, S., E. Andersen, S. Knudsen, N.K. Vejen, and L.J. Shah, (2005), "Smart Solar Tanks for Small Domestic Hot Water Systems", Solar Energy, 78:2, 269-279.
- Goldner, F.S. (1994), "Energy Use and Domestic Hot Water Consumption", New York State Energy Research and Development Authority, Report 94-19.
- Hart, M. and R. de Dear (2004), "Weather Sensitivity in Household Appliance Energy End-Use", Energy and Buildings, 36, 161-174.
- Henze, G.P, D.K. Tiller, M. Fischer, and M. Rieger (2002), "Comparison of Event Inference and Flow Trace Signature Methods for Hot Water End Use Analysis", ASHRAE Transactions, 108, Part 2, 467-479, American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air-Conditioning Engineers.
- Hiller, C.C., A.I. Lowenstein, and R. L. Merriam (1992), WATSIM User's Manual. Version 1.0: EPRI Detailed Water Heating Simulation Model User's Manual. October. Electric Power Research Institute. Palo Alto. CA. Report No. TR-101-702.
- Hiller, C. (1996), "Dual Tank Water Heating System Options", ASHRAE Transactions Symposia, 102(1), 1028-1030.
- Kalogirou, S.A. (2004), "Environmental Benefits of Domestic Solar Energy Systems", Energy Conservation and Management, 45, 3075-3092.

- Kelso, J. (2003), "Incorporating Water Heater Replacement into the Weatherization Assistance Program: Information Tool Kit", prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy Office of Weatherization and Intergovernmental Program, Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy, Washington, DC.
- Koomey, J.G., C. Dunham, and J.D. Lutz (1994), "The Effect of Efficiency Standards on Water Use and Water Heating Energy Use in the U.S.: A Detailed End-Use Treatment." Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory Report LBNL-35475.
- Koomey, J.G., S.A. Mahler, C.A. Webber, and J.E. McMahon (1998), "Projected Regional Impacts of Appliance Efficiency Standards for the U.S. Residential Sector", Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory Report LBNL-39511.
- Larsen, B.M., and R. Nesbakken (2004), "Household Electricity End-Use Consumption: Results from Econometric and Engineering Models", *Energy Economics*, 26, 179-200.
- Liao, H-C., and T-F. Chang (2002), "Space-Heating and Water-Heating Energy Demands of the Aged in the US", *Energy Economics*, 24, 267-284.
- Lowenstein, A. and C.C. Hiller (1998), "Disaggregating Residential Hot Water Use-Part II", *ASHRAE-Transactions:* 104-1, 1852-1863.
 - (1999), "Hot Water Use at Coin Laundries", *ASHRAE-Transactions: Symposia*, v 105 (PART 1), p 1023-1029.
- Lutz, J.D., X. Liu, J.E. McMahon, C. Dunham, L.J. Shown, and Q.T. McGrue (1996), "Modeling Patterns of Hot Water Use in Households", Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory Report LBL-37805 Rev.
- Lutz, J., C.D. Whitehead, A. Lekov, D. Winiarski, and G. Rosenquist (1998), WHAM: A Simplified Energy Consumption Equation for Water Heaters. In 1998 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Asilomar, CA, August 23-28, 1998: American Council for an Energy–Efficient Economy. 1:p. 1.171-1.183.
- McMahon, J.E. and X. Liu (2000), "Variability of Consumer Impacts from Energy Efficiency Standards", paper presented at the 2nd International Conference on Energy Efficiency in Household Appliances and Lighting. Naples, Italy. LBNL-45819.
- Martin, M. A. and M.B. Gettings (1998), "Review of Water, Lighting, and Cooling Energy Efficiency Measures for Low-Income Homes Located in Warm Climates", Oak Ridge National Laboratory Report ORNL/CON-437.
- Mayer, P.W., W.B. DeOreo et al. (1999), *Residential End Uses of Water*, AWWA Research Foundation and American Water Works Association.

- Merrigan, T. and D. Parker (1990), "Electrical Use, Efficiency, and Peak Demand of Electric Resistance, Heat Pump, Desuperheater, and Solar Hot Water Systems", Florida Solar Energy Center (FSEC) Report, presented at the American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy, Pacific Grove, California, August.
- Meyer, J.P., and M. Tshimankinda (1998), "Domestic Hot Water Consumption in South African Townhouses", *Energy Conversion and Management*, 39:7, 679-684.
- Natural Resources Canada (2003), "Residential Sector: Heating, Cooling and Comfort Water Heaters" Office of Energy Efficiency. Available online (August 2004) at: <u>http://oee.nrcan.gc.ca/equipment/english/page51.cfm?PrintView=N&Text=N</u>
 - (2004a), "Energy Efficiency Up Close Residential: Socio-Economic Trends Versus Space and Water Heating Energy Use", Office of Energy Efficiency, May. Available online (August 2004) at: http://oee.nrcan.gc.ca/neud/dpa/data e/Upclose/Residential/UpcloseResidential.pdf
 - (2004b), Energy Use Data Handbook, 1990 and 1996 to 2002, Office of Energy Efficiency, June. Available online (August 2004) at: http://oee.nrcan.gc.ca/neud/dpa/data_e/Handbook04/Datahandbook2004.pdf
 - (2004c), Energy Efficiency Trends in Canada, 1990 to 2002, Office of Energy Efficiency, June. Available online (August 2004) at: <u>http://oee.nrcan.gc.ca/neud/dpa/data_e/Upclose/Residential/UpcloseResidential.pdf</u>
- Parker, D. S. (2003), "Research Highlights from a Large Scale Residential Monitoring Study in a Hot Climate", *Energy and Buildings* 35, 863-876.
- Paul, D.D., G.R. Whitacre, J.J. Crisafulli, R.D. Fischer, A.L. Rutz, J.G. Murray, and S.G. Holderbaum (1993), TANK Computer Program User's Manual with Diskettes: An Interactive Personal Computer Program To Aid in the Design and Analysis of Storage-Type Water Heaters, July, Battelle Memorial Institute. Prepared for the Gas Research Institute. Report No. GRI-93/0186.
- Perlman, M. and B.E. Mills (1984), "Development of Hot Water Use Patterns", *ASHRAE Transactions* 91(2): 657-679 as referenced in Wiehagen, J. and J.L Sikora (2002a).
- Platts Research and Consulting (2004), "Tankless Water Heaters: Statistics, Cost, and Payback", referenced at <u>http://www.bchydro.com/business/investigate/investigate831.html</u>
- Pollard, A.R., A.A. Stoecklein, M.T. Camilleri, L.J. Amitrano, and N.P. Isaacs (2002), "An Initial Investigation into New Zealand's Residential Hot Water Energy Usage", Branz Conference Paper No. 99, July.
- Prado, Racine T. A., Gonçalvez, Orestes M. (1998), "Water Heating Through Electric Shower and Energy Demand", *Energy and Buildings*, 29, 77-82.

- Pratt, R.G., B.A. Ross and W. F. Sandusky (1993), "Analysis of Water Heater Standby Energy Consumption from ELCAP Homes", *Energy and Buildings*, 19(3), 221-234.
- RHEEM-Gas (2005), "Gas Water Heater Comparison", available at http://www.bchydro.com/business/investigate/investigate831.html
- Sachs, H., S. Nadel, J.T. Amann, M. Tuazon, E. Mendelsohn, L. Rainer, G. Todesco, D. Shipley, and M. Adelaar (2004), "Emerging Energy-Saving Technologies and Practices for the Buildings Sector as of 2004", Report Number. A042, American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, October.
- Sanchez, M.C., J.G. Koomey, M.M. Moezzi, A.K. Meier, and W. Huber (1998), "Miscellaneous Electricity Use in the U.S. Residential Sector", Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory Report LBNL-40295.
- Simonson, C. (2005), "Energy Consumption and Ventilation Performance of a Naturally Ventilated Ecological House in a Cold Climate", *Energy and Buildings*. 37, 23-35.

Statistics Canada (2001), 2001 Census.

- (2002), Table 052-0001 Projected Population, by Age Group and Sex, Canada, Provinces and Territories, July 1, 2000-2026.
- (2004), Survey of Household Spending User Guide Public Use Microdata File. Income Statistics Division, Statistics Canada.
- Tiller, D.K., G.P. Henze, and X. Guo (2004), "Online Domestic Hot Water End-Use Database", *ASHRAE Transactions*, 110, Part 2, 682-689, American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air-Conditioning Engineers.
- U.S. Department of Energy (1995), "Selecting a New Water Heater", Report DOE/GO-10095-064, Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy Clearinghouse.
 - (2000a), "Technical Support Document: Energy Efficiency Standards for Consumer Products: Residential Water Heaters, Including: Regulatory Impact Analysis", (Washington. DC: Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy)
 - (2000b), "Final Rule Technical Support Document: Energy Efficiency Standards for Consumer Products: Clothes Washers, Including: Environmental Assessment, Regulatory Impact Analysis", (Washington. DC: Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy)
 - (2001a), "Energy Conservation Program for Consumer Products: Energy Conservation Standards for Water Heaters; Final Rule", Federal Register, Rules and Regulations, 66 (11), 17 January, 4474-4497.

- (2001b), "Water Heating: Energy-Efficient Strategies for Supplying Hot Water in the Home", Technology Fact Sheet DOE/GO-102001-0785.
- (2004a), Water Heater Rulemaking Technical Support Document. Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy Website, available online (August 2004) at: <<u>http://www.eere.energy.gov/buildings/appliance_standards/residential/waterheat_0300_ r.html</u>>
- (2004b), 2001 Housing Characteristics, Detailed Data Tables. Energy Information Administration Website, available online (August 2004) at: <<u>http://www.eia.doe.gov/emeu/recs/recs2001_hc/hc5-4b_housingunits2001.html</u>>
- (2004c), 2001 Consumption and Expenditure Tables: Water-Heating Consumption Tables. Energy Information Administration Website, available online (August 2004) at: <<u>http://www.eia.doe.gov/emeu/consumption</u>>
- (2005), "Appliances & Commercial Equipment Standards: Water Heater Regulatory Review Completion", Department of Energy 10 CFR Part 430 [Docket No. EE-RM-97-900] RIN 1904-AA76 Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy; Energy Conservation Program for Consumer Products: Energy Conservation Standards for Water Heaters. Available online at:

<http://www.eere.energy.gov/buildings/appliance_standards/residential/waterheat_regrev iew_041201.html>

- Weingarten, L. and S. Weingarten (1996), "Water Heaters and Energy Conservation: Choices, Choices!", *Home Energy Magazine Online*, May/June.
- Wenzel, T.P., J.G. Koomey, G.J. Rosenquist, M. Sanchez, and J.W. Hanford (1997), "Energy Data Sourcebook for the U.S. Residential Sector", Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory Report LBNL-40297.
- Wiehagen, J. and J.L Sikora (2002a), "Domestic Hot Water System Modeling For the Design of Energy Efficient Systems", National Renewable Energy Laboratory Report, NAHB Research Center Inc.
 - (2002b), "Performance Comparison of Residential Hot Water Systems", National Renewable Energy Laboratory Report NREL/SR-550-32922, NAHB Research Center, Inc.

CBEEDAC

Department of Economics University of Alberta 8-14 Tory Building Edmonton, Alberta Canada T6G 2H4 cbeedac@ualberta.ca

COPYRIGHT

Use of materials and information

This publication is protected by copyright; it may be reproduced in unaltered form for personal, noncommercial use. Selected passages and other extracts from this publication may also be reproduced, as long as appropriate credit is granted and CBEEDAC is acknowledged as the source. All other rights are reserved. CBEEDAC will not be liable for any loss, damage, cost or expense incurred in or arising by reason of any person relying on the information in this publication.

THE DANISH ENERGY MODEL Innovative, Efficient and Sustainable





The Danish Energy Agency

The Danish Energy Model has shown that through persistent and active energy policy with ambitious renewable energy goals, enhanced energy efficiency and support for technical innovation and industrial development, it is possible to sustain significant economic growth and a high standard of living, while reducing fossil fuel dependency and mitigating climate change.

In a nutshell: energy savings, optimized manufacturing and investments in green energy technology are good value for money.

Denmark has reduced the adjusted greenhouse gas emissions by more than 30 pct. since 1990 – and is set to achieve 40 pct. by 2020. Denmark has the highest contribution of nonhydro renewables in any electricity system worldwide: 46 pct. in 2013. In 2014, almost 40 pct. of the Danish electricity consumption was based on wind power; by 2020 this figure will be 50 pct. The Danish government has set a number of targets for the further development of the energy sector:

Eliminating coal completely from power generation by 2030

Covering Denmark´s electricity and heat supply by renewable energy by 2035

And ultimately, reaching a society free from fossil fuels by 2050

The targets are clear, and our experience shows that the transition to 21st century energy is doable – and affordable.



Morten Bæk Director General Danish Energy Agency

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Low-carbon Economic Growth and Job	
Creation	3
Setting the Course	5
Scenarios	5
Innovation and System Development	6
Energy Efficiency	6
Renewable Energy	8
Synergies - Energy System Integration	
and Development	12
Climate Change – Setting and	
Achieving Ambitious Targets	14
Strong International Ties	
and Cooperation	15
Public Engagement and Acceptance	15

LOW-CARBON ECONOMIC GROWTH AND JOB CREATION

The results of clear political direction have been significant and convincing: the Danish experience shows that through persistent and active energy policy focused on enhanced energy efficiency and ambitious use of renewables, it is possible

to sustain significant economic growth and simultaneously reduce fossilfuel dependency while protecting the climate and environment.

The Danish economy's energy consumption is among the lowest in the world relative to gross output. Denmark has become one of the world's most energy efficient economies. Since 1990, Danish GDP has increased by nearly 40%. During this period, the domestic energy consumption has declined by 7% and the adjusted carbon emissions by more than 30%. This development has not only benefitted the competitiveness of Danish enterprises through lower energy costs and less exposure to highly volatile fossil fuel prices, but also fostered new products and industries.

Green products and services are defined as products which reduce pressure on the environment, for example energy saving products and the service of installing renewable energy systems. In 2013 Denmark produced green products and services for EUR 22 billion, half of which is related to renewable energy and one sixth to energy efficiency. The green sector employs approximately 58,000 people in Denmark. As an example, the Danish wind energy sector currently employs more than 27,000 workers1 and the Danish export of wind energy technology in 2013 accounted for more than EUR 6.5bn¹.



1 The Danish Wind Industry Association (DWIA)

DECLINING ENERGY CONSUMPTION AND CARBON EMISSIONS

Most of the 7% decline in the gross energy consumption in Denmark between 1990 and 2013 is due to a 24% drop in fossil fuel consumption relative to the gross energy consumption partly substituted by a 12% increase in contribution from the use of biofuels and 5% from wind energy. In 2013 renewable energy sources accounted for 24% of the gross energy consumption of Denmark. In the same period, energy conversion efficiency has been boosted significantly, reducing conversion losses by 28% or 7% relative to gross energy consumption. The main reason for this improvement has been a massive increase in combined power and heat generation (CHP) and wind energy capacity. These two energy sources have increased their overall contribution by 10% compared

to the gross energy consumption in the period. With a 40% increase in real GDP from 1990 to 2013 combined with flat net energy consumption, the end-user energy efficiency has also been improved significantly. As an example, the manufacturing sector has boosted the gross value added by 25% but reduced final energy consumption by 20% in the period. Danish households have increased real consumer spending by 40% in the period but reduced net energy consumption by 1%.

As for CO₂ emissions related to energy, the main contributors to the 31% drop in Danish emissions since 1990 is energy conversion (electricity and heat generation) by 46% mainly due to an almost tripling of energy generated from renewable energy sources, plant efficiency and CHP plants. Goods manufacturing and household consumption contributed with 36% and 53% emission reductions, respectively. As for power generation, reduction in fossil fuel based sources and power plant optimization has reduced Danish emissions by 22% compared to 1990 emissions.



The Danish government's energy policy milestones up to 2050 In order to secure 100% renewable energy in 2050 the government has sevaeral energy policy milestones in the years 2020, 2030 and 2035.

2020

Half of the traditional consumptions of electricity is covered by wind power

2030

Coal is phased out from Danish power plants. Oil burners phased out

2035

The electricity and heat supply covered by renewable energy

2050

All energy supply - electricity, heat, industry and transport - is covered by renewable energy

SETTING THE COURSE

Denmark has a long tradition of active energy policy, initiated as a reaction to the first oil crisis in 1973. Over the years, a broad consensus in the Danish Parliament has been utilized to transition Denmark's energy system towards reduced energy consumption, increased decentralized energy production and increased utilization of renewable energy sources. Consistent, determined and longterm political objectives have formed the foundation of the low-carbon transition of the Danish energy sector.

SCENARIOS

The Danish Energy Agency has performed scenario analysis to investigate possibilities in reaching the goal of a fossil-free energy system by 2050. The Danish energy supply is modeled in scenarios which illustrate a selection of technical possibilities for a future energy system. This analysis shows that it is possible to cost-efficiently design different energy systems which all meet the target of a fossil-free energy system by 2050. All scenarios assume vast energy savings as part of the strategy to reach



fossil-freedom in the Danish energy system. A fossil based scenario is used as a reference, and the analysis shows that both the wind and biomass scenarios are within 10% of additional costs compared to the fossil based scenario. A transition to a fossil free energy system takes time and requires vast changes in the entire society.

INNOVATION AND SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT

Research, development and demonstration of new technologies and systems have been critical elements in establishing a Danish stronghold in the energy sector. Public-private sector cooperation, coupled with stable political and regulatory frameworks, has fostered important innovation and breakthroughs in energy concepts and -systems. The foundation of the low-carbon transition has been threefold: energy efficiency, renewable energy and system integration including electrification.

ENERGY EFFICIENCY

Energy efficiency is a vital element in the green transition of the energy sector. Without extensive energy efficiency improvements, it would have been disproportionally expensive to meet energy demands with new and initially more expensive energy sources like renewable energy. Successful energy efficiency deployment enables meeting society's demand for various energy services more efficiently and effectively,



Note: Energy use in PJ and energy intensity in TJ / mio EUR gross value added (2010-prices) from 1990 to 2013 Source: Danish Energy Agency so that energy consumption is reduced. Results are achieved in part by transitioning to more energy efficient technologies and solutions, but also highly dependent on increasing energy consciousness and altering consumer behavior.

Denmark has achieved remarkable results in energy efficiency performance for households, manufacturing and energy production. For instance, energy consumption in buildings has been reduced by 45% per square meter since 1975. For the manufacturing sector, the energy intensity has been reduced by more than 2% per annum the last ten years. According to a recent study² the gains in energy efficiency has improved cost competitiveness in the Danish manufacturing sector by 9%, due to oil price increases over the last decade.

SUPPORT FOR ENERGY EFFICIENCY MEASURES

Potential remains for cost effective energy efficiency improvements. These exist in all sectors and areas of use. Significant improvements on national energy efficiency performance can be achieved with products and technologies that are already developed and available as consumer solutions. Often, it will be cost effective for consumers to use existing solutions; however, energy efficiency improvements do not come about automatically. Active efforts are needed to promote additional efficiency improvements and savings. Danish energy policy therefore contains a number of initiatives to increase energy efficiency improvements in order to minimize energy use and energy waste in all sectors.

In addition to more efficient energy production, a number of initiatives

have been carried out to increase the efficiency of end-user consumption, that is, consumption by consumers and enterprises. Danish environmental- and energy taxes contribute to a better reflection of the environmental costs of production, use and disposal in consumer prices on energy.

By formulating schemes in close dialogue with industry, knowledge about challenges and possibilities are integrated in the measures.

Initiatives include:

- Energy labelling of buildings
- Building codes focusing on energy consumption
- Electricity saving trusts
- Energy labelling of appliances
- Energy savings in the public sector
- Energy efficiency obligation schemes

2 Danmarks Nationalbank Monetary Review, 2nd Quarter, 2014, Energy efficiency and competitiveness

RENEWABLE ENERGY

Despite almost no hydropower resources, Denmark has managed to become a global leader in renewable energy generation. Renewable energy's share of final energy consumption in Denmark has been steadily increasing since 1980. Today, more than 25% of Denmark's final energy consumption is covered by renewable energy. Measuring electricity supply alone, renewable energy today accounts for close to 50% of domestic generation, which is mainly due to the incorporation of wind energy in electricity production. Denmark today has 4,810 MW³ of installed wind energy capacity, of which 1,271 MW³ are offshore wind turbines (ultimo 2013). On windy days, wind turbines in Denmark produce more than the domestic demand.

EFFICIENT AND EFFECTIVE SUPPORT FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY

Promoting renewable energy requires a favorable investment climate, a developed power grid and long-term planning.

High initial investment cost and lack of fuel costs are the main differences between wind or solar energy and most conventional power sources. Stimulating demand through financial and market support has been a central element in promoting the expansion of renewable energy in Denmark. A positive investment climate has been created with priority grid access and resource based feed-in tariffs. Feed-in tariffs for offshore wind are settled by tender and feed-in premiums with a cap regulate the support for onshore wind power.

Central and long-term planning has ensured timely and relevant investments in the power grid and system. Thus the grid and system have been developed incrementally in order to handle the steady increase in fluctuating renewable energy production. Strategic planning of future grid investments follows the current political energy agreement with adopted measures and policies toward the Danish government's long-term goal of full conversion to renewable energy in 2050.

Mapping available resources are fundamental in physical planning to estimate production of potential sites. Ambitious targets, long-term planning and strong and stable political framework conditions have paved the way for significant private investments by creating a positive and secure long-term investment climate. The Danish Energy Agency functions as a "one stop shop" for permits, where all relevant information is gathered. This makes necessary processes more streamlined and effective. Changes in the Danish overall energy mix have resulted in a substantial reduction of emissions from energy production. CO_2 emissions from electricity production have decreased by over 50%³ in the period 1990 to 2013. Half the amount of CO_2 is emitted when producing one unit of GDP in 2013 compared to 1990 and per capita emission has been reduced by 37%.

Reaping the full benefits of new renewable energy technologies has caused radical changes to the Danish energy system and networks. Danish experience shows that flexibility in conventional production in combination with strong transmission and distribution networks, and larger exchange of power with neighboring countries in order to increase balancing areas, are important components in overcoming challenges.

Renewable energy has contributed to a sharp decline in carbon emissions, but also enhanced the security of energy supply by utilizing domestic energy resources like wind, solar and biomass. Going forward, further expansion of renewable energy capacity and sources is an important element in meeting the government's long-term vision to make Denmark entirely independent of fossil fuels.



3 Source: Energinet.dk

HOW IS DENMARK INTEGRATING RENEWABLE ENERGY TODAY AND IN THE FUTURE?

Some days the power production from wind turbines in Denmark exceeds the domestic demand for electricity, and on average the fluctuating wind energy supplied nearly 40% of electricity consumption in 2014. How is Denmark managing to integrate very large shares of fluctuating wind energy nearly without wind power curtailment, as we often see in other countries?

Most would point to the resource endowment of the Nordic countries, i.e. the synergy between hydro-, windand thermal power in combination with a strong integration with neighboring grids of Europe, including the well-developed NordPool power exchange, as the primary factors. Denmark can freely buy and sell electricity to balance the fluctuating electricity production from wind. But reality is more complex, and includes a number of innovative features.

• Integrating heat supply with electricity balancing. Half of our electricity is produced by small combined heat- and power plants. This system has been designed with flexibility allowing for varying proportions of heat and electricity production, and also has built-in heating storage that allows for continuing the heat supply, while reducing the electricity production at the CHP plants when there is ample wind power available in the system.

Innovation in thermal power plant flexibility, which can vary their daily output and quickly adapt to the fluctuating production from wind. In most parts of the world thermal power plants are designed to run constant outputs, and the owners will resist implementing increased flexibility in daily operations. The speed of power production regulation in Denmark is larger than in other countries, and the minimum level of output is unusually low in Danish power plants.

Innovation in the incorporation of advanced wind forecasting in the operations of power system control and dispatch. Such advanced forecasting, used by the Danish Transmission System Operator Energinet.dk, has increased the ability to integrate and balance high shares of renewables.

• Advanced functions of the electricity market allowing the CHP plants and the coal power plants to benefit not only from selling to the wholesale market in which their share of trade is decreasing due to increased priority production from renewables. They can also profit from selling their services to the so called 'ancillary markets', which provides a number of services required for a well-functioning power system.

Further increasing the share of renewable energy will require more flexibility in the power system. Denmark is therefore strengthening international connections, and introducing technical measures that will allow for more flexibility and more rapid response in the demand for power. Furthermore, it is important to note that modern wind-turbines, due to technological improvements, today can provide part of the foundation to ensure power system stability, a role that previously was reserved for thermal power plants. The combination of circumstances in Denmark might be unique, but our experience has attracted huge international attention and has been shared with important Chinese institutions in the ongoing cooperation between the Danish Ministry of Climate, Energy and Buildings and key Chinese authorities in the field of energy, like National Energy Administration, State Grid and others. The Chinese authorities are using Danish experiences to reduce curtailment of wind power, and working closely with Danish authorities to achieve a general transformation of the Chinese energy sector in a green and sustainable direction.

Analyses show that the costs of introducing renewable energy in Denmark have been relatively high initially. However, gradually declining renewable energy costs and gradually increasing prices for fossil fuels have made renewable energy sources increasingly competitive compared with traditional energy sources. Today, onshore wind is the cheapest power generation technology when adding new capacity in Denmark even excluding indirect costs for conventional fossil fuel based generation options. These costs are mainly related to cost for negative effects of emissions such as CO_2 , SO_x and NO_x . These emissions are adding negative health, environment and climate effects and consequently costs for individual citizens and society as a whole.

It is worth mentioning that Danish energy taxation and participation in the European Emission Trading System (ETS) is meant to correct some of these market imperfections making energy market participants and investors aware of indirect generation costs. Also it should be noted that emissions levels per produced MWh is very low in Denmark due to strict emissions and efficiency



Note: Coal based on supercritical plants. Source: Danish Energy Agency

standards $(CO_2 \text{ per produced MWh})$. The calculations also includes balancing cost for fluctuating renewable energy sources like wind and solar, which is on a level of EUR 1-2 per MWh for the Danish power system.

SYNERGIES - ENERGY SYSTEM INTEGRATION AND DEVELOPMENT

Focusing on broader interactions and systems, as opposed to individual components and concepts, is an important aspect of the Danish energy model. The Danish energy model is characterized by a holistic view of energy planning, with emphasis on integration of for instance heat and power production, and establishing synergies between taxation schemes and policy support frameworks for renewable energy. Furthermore, prudent interaction within the power and heating sector, i.e. CHP production, use of heating storage in the district heating system and increased use of electricity for heating accompanied by increased deployment of heating pumps and electrical boilers, will further improve the efficiency in the energy sector and mitigate the challenges of integrating variable renewable energy sources in the power system.

An effective integration and support for renewable energy sources in Denmark combined with a well-functioning open power market in the region (NordPool) has ensured that Danish power prices are not significantly higher than other European countries, even including the cost of supporting generation and integration of large amounts of renewable energy.

COMBINING HEAT AND POWER PRODUCTION

Combining heat and power generation has been a key component in the development of the energy sector in Denmark creating a cost effective heat and power supply. The average cost of receiving heat and hot water from district heating only amounts to 3% of the average household income. The distribution of heat through district heating in Denmark has been one of the key drivers in reductions of gross energy consumption and CO₂ emissions from the energy sector. District heating supplies more than 60% of all households in Denmark with heat and hot water in 2013.

More than 70% of the heat distributed through district heating in Denmark is generated in combined heat and power plants (CHP). CHP's accounted for close to 60% of the thermal power generation in Denmark in 2013. A transformation of CHP from fossil fuel to biomass and new dedicated biomass CHP and heat capacity means that close to 45% of the district heating produced in 2013 was from renewable energy. For Danish society, the gross energy consumption has been reduced by 11% due to combined heat and power.

The implementation of district heating and combined heat and power has throughout the years, apart from the planning procedures, been supported by a variety of different support mechanisms. These vary from tax exemptions, feed-in tariffs to investment grants.



Danish Energy Agency, Tel: +45 3392 6700, website: www.ens.dk/en 13



Note: Electricity prices including tariffs for businesses using 2-20GWh annually. Source: Danish Energy Agency

CLIMATE CHANGE – SETTING AND ACHIEVING AMBITIOUS TARGETS

The future foundation for Danish energy policy is based on two broadly supported political agreements, namely the Energy Agreement of 2012 and the Climate Change Act of 2014.

The Danish Government has established the long-term goal of a fossil-free economy, meaning that the entire energy supply – electricity, heating, industry and transportation – is to be covered by renewable energy by 2050.

The Energy Agreement is the roadmap for development of energy supply and demand for the period 2012–2020. This agreement contains a wide range of ambitious initiatives, bringing Denmark a good step closer to the target of 100% renewable energy supply. Through expanded offshore wind production and use of biomass, renewables are expected to cover more than 70% of Danish electricity production by 2020. The Energy Agreement and current results and projections shows that Denmark will more than fulfills its obligations toward the EU 2020 targets within energy efficiency, renewable energy and reduction of carbon emissions (20-20-20 targets).

The Climate Change Act will establish an overarching strategic framework for Denmark's longer-term climate policy with a view to achieving the transition to a low-emission society by 2050, i.e. a resource-effective economy with an energy supply based on renewable energy and significantly lower emissions of greenhouse gases from other sectors, while taking economic growth and development into consideration. The new strategic framework will ensure transparency and public access to the status, direction and progress of Denmark's climate policy.

STRONG INTERNATIONAL TIES AND COOPERATION

A significant amount of Danish energy system innovation has been developed in close public and private cooperation with other countries, institutions and corporations. This cooperation includes European and other developed countries, as well as rapidly emerging economies from all continents. Using these lessons and experiences, Denmark is trying to stimulate and inspire low-carbon growth globally.

A tangible example of this is sectorial cooperation with the Government of China on integrating large amounts of renewable energy into their power system and consequently reducing China's rapidly growing GHG emissions. Other partner countries currently include Mexico, South Africa and Vietnam, and the list is expanding. The scope of cooperation is broad, covering energy efficiency, renewable energy and energy system development as well as climate finance.

In a global perspective, Denmark is a small country with a limited contribution to the overall GHG emissions. However, through the power of example, Denmark has demonstrated that energy consumption and carbon emissions can be radically improved in a short timeframe while maintaining a sound and resilient economy. An important part of the Danish effort to mitigate climate change will be stepping up international cooperation in coming years.

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND ACCEPTANCE

Energy policy is well rooted in the everyday lives of Danish citizens, with significant public engagement in all aspects of the low-carbon transition. From energy efficiency measures and campaigns for households and residential buildings, ownership in renewable energy assets (roof-mounted solar panels, community owned wind farms, etc.) support for low-carbon transportation (public transportation, bicycle commuting, etc.), energy conservation and transition to low carbon options are a part of everyday life for the citizens of Denmark.

The general public support for the energy sector transition, including costs and other impacts, is an important part of the broad political consensus towards the huge changes taking place in the Danish energy sector these years, to tackle climate change and move towards more sustainable and sound economic growth. The Danish Energy Agency's Centre for Global Cooperation supports emerging economies to combine sustainable future energy supplies with economic growth. The initiative is based on four decades of Danish experience with renewable energy and energy efficiency, transforming the energy sectors to deploy increasingly more lowcarbon technologies.

Learn more on our website: www.ens.dk/global-cooperation

For further information, please contact:

Henrik Breum hebr@ens.dk Phone: +45 3392 7812





Danish Energy Agency, Amaliegade 44, DK 1256 Copenhagen Phone: +45 33 92 67 00 website: www.ens.dk/en